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PREFACE.

Nor many weeks have passed since I met a
distinguished Military officer who was kind
enough to say, that ¢ he had read with pleasure
and interest my * Reminiscences of Service with
the 93rd Sutherland Highlanders;”’ and re-
marked that he ¢thought it unfortunate that
old Regimental officers, who had retired from
the Army, did not occupy their leisure in
writing their reminiscences, as these might not
only interest the public, and give pleasure to
their old brother-officers, but might also influ-
ence for good the present generation, help to
maintain Regimental esprit-de-corps and keep
alive memories which otherwise must sink into
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oblivion.” It was just for such reasons I wrote
my first book ; and, encouraged by the success
which attended that first effort, I have employed
a portion of my leisure time, during the last
eighteen months, in writing these Records. 1
have not allowed the work to be a labour; on
the contrary, it has been a pleasure to me to
write, and I hope it may be a pleasure to my
friends to read what I have written; and that
these Records may induce others to tell the
‘story of their lives,’ for there are many of
my old Military friends whose lives have been
as full, if not more full, of incident than mine.

My memory has been greatly assisted, and
my ‘notes substantiated, by conversations held
with, and diaries lent me by, old brother-officers
of both regiments in which I served; the
regimental records of which I have, to some
extent, interwoven with each other and with
my own.

I now tender my thanks to those from whom

I have received such assistance.
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My old brother-officer General Patterson
(91st) has not only helped me verbally, but has
been kind and patient enough to read over the
whole of my manuscript, occasionally correcting
me where I was not quite accurate ; and Colonel
Hollway (91st also) placed in my hands the
records of the 91st.

I have to thank General Wiseman-Clarke
(93rd) for the use of his diary; and General
Burroughs, C.B., Lieutenant-Colonel Gordon
Alexander, and Major Williams (93rd) for both
verbal information and notes; and Lieutenant-
Colonel Joyner for copious extracts from a diary
kept by him during a long service in the 93rd
dating as far back as 1845; also for having
read a portion of my manuscript. I have also
to thank Captain Burgoyne for the assistance
I derived from the records of the 93rd compiled
by him.

In writing of events of the Mutiny, in the
year 1858, I have received very great and kind

assistance from General Sir James Brind, G.C.B.,
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and from Lieutenant-General Cafe, V.C., both
of whom placed diaries, letters, and memoranda
at my command. I have also to thank my old
friend and brother-officer Colonel Nightingale,
and the Officers of the Argyll and Sutherland
Highlanders, for allowing me to use the arms
of the regiment on these Records. To each and
all of whom here mentioned I offer my acknow-

ledgments and grateful thanks.
Wu. MUNRO,
SURGEON-GENERAL.

64, WeST CROMWELL RoaDp, LoNDON, S.W.
May 1887.
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CHAPTER 1.

Ordered to London, 1844—Sir James McGregor, Bart.—His
Reception of Me—KExamination by Board of Medical Officers
—Ordered to Chathap—Fort Pitt—Dr. Andrew Smith
(afterwards Sir Andrew)—Supernumeraries—Their Duties—
The Army Medical Mess—The P. M. O. of former Days—
Absence without Leave—Unpleasant Surprise—Conse-
quences—Supernumeraries’ Lodgings—Convivial Parties—
Visit Chatham after Absence of many Years.

EARLY in June, 1844, I received orders to appear
before the Army Medical Board in London, for the
purpose of being examined as to my fitness to enter
the Army as an assistant-surgeon. I was desired to
bring with me all my college and medical certificates,
my degree as Doctor of Medicine, and my diploma
as surgeon, also a certificate of age, and a testimonial
as to moral character from a clergyman.
VOL. I. : B
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2 i I‘REPORT MYSELF

Havmg reported my arrival at the Army Medical
Department (then in St. James’s Place, St. James's
Street), I handed over my papers to the head-clerk,
a gentleman evidently of consequence in the depart-
ment, or at least in the office, and of brusque, if not
offensive, manners. Having given up my papers to
* be scrutinised by this gentleman, I was ushered into
the presence of Sir James McGregor, then Director-
General of the department. Sir James was a man
of lofty stature, commanding presence, and of such
dignified and courteous manners that, young as I was,
I could not help drawing a comparison between
the man who really possessed authority and the
official downstairs who assumed it.

Sir James was standing as I entered the room, but
signed to me to approach him, and, as I did so,
held out his lttle finger, and at the same time ad-
dressed ' me in a tone and with an accent somewhat
approaching the familiar Scotch. He first inquired
for my father, who was at that time high up in
the department and on foreign service; and then
asked ¢ from what part of Scotland I came.” Satisfied
on these points, he further inquired where I had
studied, and if I had both degree and diploma ; and
then remarked, ¢ If you pass your examination before
the board of medical officers to-day, you will receive
an order to proceed to Chatham, where you will do
duty until a vacancy occurs in the department.
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But, continued he, ‘you will be very happy at
Chatham, if you behave yourself, where Dr. Smith
is Principal Medical Officer, and where there is an
excellent mess, at which you will be required to
dine.’

Facetious young fellows, ha,ving~ got through their
interview with Sir James, and passed their examina-
tion, were in the habit of declaring that he (Sir
James) always spoke of the mess as ¢ nutritious’ and
not, excellent. This may have been the case when
the young men looked as if they required nourishing
food, or as if they had not been accustomed to good
living. The ¢ nutreetious’ mess (the word pronounced
in caricature of the Scotch accentuation) was a con-
stant source of jest and laughter, after fellocws had
passed their examinations, and got safely to Chatham
and were outside of the mess.

Our interview was a short one, and, again offering
his little finger, Sir James dismissed me. On respect-
fully taking the little finger, I observed that all the
other fingers of the hand were much swollen and
contracted, evidently the effect of gout; and thus
the little finger was all that he had to offer by way
of salutation.

From Sir James’s room I passed into another, where
were seated three gentlemen, viz., Dr. Theodore
Gordon, Dr, Hall (afterwards Sir John), but the name
of the third I have forgotten, probably because he

B 2
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sat silent during my examination, and also mest
probably because I never met him again.

Dr. Gordon (Deputy Inspector General of Hos-
pitals) was the Director-General’s principal assistant,
and, in the absence of the latter, had the control and
management of the department. . He was a tall,
handsome, elderly man, but not very taking in man-
ner, though I believe he was most thoroughly kind-
hearted. Dr. Hall I shall speak of in future chapters,
as I served under him during two campaigns. The
third gentleman I shall not have to allude to again.

Having seated myself, by desire, I was handed a
Latin book (Gregory’s Conspectus), and told to open
it at a certain page, and read the Latin first, and
then the translation. Being a Scotchman, educated
at & Scotch school and university, I pronounced the
Latin with the broad Doric accent (the ore rotundo),
which appeared to please Dr. Gordon. In the trans-
lation, however, I did not quite satisfy him, as he
asked me ¢if I had translated correctly.’ I replied
in the affirmative, but he disagreed with me. I read
the passage over again, adhering to my translation,
which I knew to be correct, and Dr. Gordon acknow-
ledged that it was correct, though, it appeared to me,
rather hesitatingly. It was not politic on my part to
show too much confidence in my own rendering of
the passage. Had I had a little more worldly wis-
dom, I would have allowed myself to be put right or
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wrong, just as my examiner thought fit; but youth
is conceited, and wanting in that essential to success,
viz., never to appear to know better than your superiors.
I did not profit by the lesson on that occasion, how-
ever, and suffered more than once in after years from
letting those in authority feel that I thought I knew
better than they did. I shall explain this by-and-by,
however.

Dr. Hall conducted the professional part of the
examination, and the third gentleman looked and
nodded approval. .

Another young fellow was examined on the same
day, after me, who was rejected because he failed
to translate the Latin passage correctly. After an
interval of a month, however, he was examined again,
and read his Latin translation easily. His failure on
the first occasion was, I believe, owing altogether to
nervousness; for he was an accomplished young
fellow, and M.A. of one of our great universities,
but he was of a peculiarly nervous and excitable
temperament, and died eventually from over-anxiety
and excitement.

I mention this merely to show that in those days a
certain knowledge of the classics was required of all
candidates for the medical service of the Army. In-
deed, besides a good school and college education,
the curriculum of professional study laid down by Sir
James McGregor was more extensive and comprehen-
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sive than that required by the different universities
and schools of medicine and surgery.

His great anxiety from the day that he joined the
Medical Board, and afterwards as Director-General,
had always been to elevate the tone of the Army
Medical Department by encouraging candidates with
the greatest acquirements and accomplishments to
present themselves, and he had in a great measure
succeeded.

He insisted upon a knowledge of Latin in all cases ;
preferred candidates who possessed degreesin arts
and in medicine; and advised the study of botany,
natural history, geology, and mineralogy, subjects
which I do not think are included in the require-
ments and examinations for the medical service of
the present day.

After having passed my examination, I had another
interview with the secretary or head clerk, who in-
formed me that unless I gave a written promise to
become an annual subscriber to the Medical Officers’
Friendly Society, and obtained a certificate of pro-
ficiency in the art of cupping from a certain practi-
tioner in London, I should not receive my order to
proceed to Chatham. Of course I gave the written
promise, and paid my two guineas to the professional
cupper for his certificate, although I was already pro-
ficient in the art and had a certificate to that effect
which had been presented with my other papers and
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certificates ; but either it was not looked at, or not
considered sufficient. Why I bad to go through this
farce I do not know, but all candidates were obliged
to pay their two guineas for this certificate.

Next day I had another interview with Sir James
McGregor, the last I ever had with him as Director-
General, and on the afternoon of the same day I pro-
ceeded to Chatham, which was then, though in a very
humble degree, what Netley now is. It was a medical
school and disciplinary establishment, contained a
museum and library, and was the general hospital for
invalids from all parts of the world, but especially
from India. This school of instruction was in Fort
Pitt, which, as its name implies, was and still is a fort
situated on high ground overlooking the town of
Chatham, and commanding (to some extent) the
Medway and the approach to the dockyard. Several
piles of buildings stand in the centre of the fort, which
long ago were officers’ quarters and barracks for
troops. These latter, in the days of which T write,
were used as hospital wards, offices, museum, and
library. The old officers’ quarters were still used as
such, and one large room as the mess-room. A num-
ber of large casemated rooms, situated low down on
the eastern side of the fort, were also used as hospital
wards. This part of the fort was called the pit,’ and
it deserved the name, for it was low, damp, and cold,
affording as unsuitable and comfortless accommoda-
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tion for sick men and invalids from hot climates as it
is possible to conceive. Altogether, Fort Pitt was a
shabby establishment to represent the training school
for medical officers, and a miserable institution to be
considered one of the principal hospitals for the sick
and invalided soldiers of the Army of Great Britain.
But perhaps we did not know better in those days, or
(what is more likely) were indifferent to, and not will-
ing to spend money on, what was required for the
medico-military wants of an army which served in
every quarter of the world, but which during nearly
forty years had become unaccustomed to active ser-
vice, except that portion of it which happened to be
in India. There, however (in4 India), the authorities
knew something about war, how to keep up war-like
establishments and material, and how to take care of
their troops, both European and native, during peace
and war alike.

Dr. Smith (afterwards Sir Andrew, and Sir James
McGregor’s successor as Director-General) was the
Principal Medical Officer at Chatham, and under him,
in connection with Fort Pitt, were Dr. Sillery and Mr.
Ford, staff-surgeons of the first class, the former in
charge of the surgical division and lunatic asylum, the
latter, though not an M.D., in charge of the medical
division. There was also Staff-Assistant-Surgeon
Williamson, who had charge of the museum, and was
besides the operating surgeon and the pathologist of
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the school. These were the four officers by whom
the candidates were to be initiated into the discipline
and instructed in the routine of the professional
duties of the service.

Dr. Smith was abrupt and rough in manner, with a
certain constraint and reserve which rather appalled
the young medical candidates. He was tall, and
would have been handsome had he not been so gaunt
and cadaverous-looking, the result of continued bad
health. He had spent nearly all his service at the
Cape of Good Hope, where he was allowed to devote
his time entirely to the practical study of natural
history, and thus to accumulate the vast store of in-
formation which enabled him to publish his great
work on the zoology of Southern Africa. At the same
time that he held the position of Principal Medical
Officer at Chatham, he was employed in completing
this great work.

Young doctors on arrival at Chatham, and until
gazetted to regiments or to the staff, were styled
¢ supernumeraries” They did duty as officers, in so
far as they attended the sick and kept the records of
their cases, but were not allowed to sign requisitions
for supplies or documents connected with expenditure.
They received no pay, wore no uniform, were not
supplied with quarters, but lived in lodgings, and were
required to dine at mess ; all expenses being defrayed
by themselves as long as they were supernumeraries.
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This was rather hard, especially when young
gentlemen were kept doing. the duties of commis-
sioned officers, and under military discipline, from
two to nine months.

There were seventeen supernumeraries at Chatham
when I was there, all gentlemanly young fellows (if
there were any that were not so, I have forgotten),
and of those seventeen only four are alive now
(Massy, Shelton, Thompson, and myself, all surgeon-
generals). Of the others, some fell in battle, some
died of disease on active service, and some passed
away quietly in retirement. The four of us who
survive have seen a great deal of foreign and active
service, and, though now retired on account of «age,
are still hale and hearty. ‘

Of the seventeen supernumeraries who were at
Chatham in 1844, some were kept there four, some
five, some six, some seven, and two nine months
waiting for commissions. I myself had to wait five
months. It was a weary business, waiting so long,
and, between the cost of lodgings and mess bills, it
was expensive ; but the time so spent was not thrown
away; it was useful to us not only as a period of
probation, but as ah initiation into the discipline and
duties of the service, on which points Dr. Smith was
very strict.

On arrival, being an M.D., I was attached to the
medical division, and put in charge of a large ward
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containing thirty invalids, men from all quarters of
the world, and suffering from different climatic dis-
eases which I had no knowledge of except from
books ; but I was supposed to kave a practical know-
ledge of them, and further, to understand the special
duties of an army medical officer before I had received
any instruction.

Mr. Ford (who was in charge of the division) evi-
dently acted on such a supposition, for he gave me
no assistance, and if I manifested any doubt in recog-
nising the disease, or any uncertainty as to how to
record the symptoms and treatment of a case in the
hospital books, he got very irritable, spoke angrily, and
once forgot himself so far as to swear at me before
the patients. This I resented quickly and angrily,
and he never took such a liberty again, but was ever
after, during my stay at Chatham, polite and even
friendly.

But in those days it was by no means unusual to
meet principal medical officers who were brusque in
manner, and often: overbearing and harsh to their
juniors; in fact, as soon as a medical officer reached
the position of P. M. O. (as it was and still is styled),
he appeared to think that the duties of the august
position he had attained to were to keep down ex-
penditure, and to snub and repress, rather than to
advise and assist, young officers serving under him.
I do not affirm that all thought and acted thus, but
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mwany did, and I have no doubt that there are some
old officers still living who can support me in what I
state.

After the Crimean war, a new generation of
P. M. O.s arose, and bullying and harsh and un-
necessary surveillance over matters of secondary
importance disappeared from the department. -

The supernumeraries at Chatham were obliged to
be very careful, and to submit meekly to a little
bullying ; for an unfavourable report from an imme-
diate senior, transmitted through the Principal Medi-
cal Officer, might put off the date of a commission, or
entail service in the West Indies, or some other un-
desirable station. I remember many examples of
this, but will only mention two which happened
during my period of probation at Chatham.

Two of the young fellows, the seniors of the super-
numeraries, weary of long confinement in Chatham,
made up their minds to have a little change of scene, °
and so started one afternoon (without leave) on a
visit to Gravesend. They seated themselves com-
fortably on the top of the coach (a lumbering old
vehicle which ran between Chatham and Gravesend,
for there was no railway in those days), and, with the
determination of enjoying their stolen freedom, told
stories to each other, and to their fellow-passengers,
which created great mirth and laughter, chucked
pennies to, and applauded with much clapping of
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hands, the little gipsy boys who ran alongside the
coach, and turned wonderful summersaults, and called
for beer at every roadside public-house, which was:
handed up to them in shining pewter pots, and which
they drank and shared with their companions. This
was repeated so often that at last they got very noisy
and excited, drank to each other and to their fellow-
passengers, and finally, inspired by their potations,
exhilarated by the pure atmosphere of the vicinity
of Gravesend, and probably emboldened by distance
from Chatham, and by a feeling that they were away
from the influence of discipline, and beyond the
sphere of the Argus eyes that kept watch over them
in Fort Pitt, they, in a merry mood, drank to the
health of the P. M. O. in a pint of ditter.

On arrival at Gravesend, and on descending from
their elevated position where they had enjoyed them-~
selves so much, one can imagine what their astonish-
ment—nay, horror—must have been to see the
P. M. O., whose health they had just been merrily
drinking, step out from the inside of the coach. He
had been a passenger the whole way, and of course
bad seen a good deal, and heard all that had been
going on ; but, on emerging from the coach, he took
no notice of his truant subalterns, and went on his
way, leaving our young friends in a painful state of
uncertainty, but still in hopes that he had not re-
cognised them. Vain hope, for next day came the
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reckoning, and the two culprits, looking very sorry
for themselves, were ordered to attend at the P. M. O.’s
office, where they received a stern reprimand.

This little bit of stolen pleasure and noisy fun cost
them two months longer service as supernumeraries, dur-
ing which time they had the mortification of seeing
several of their juniors commissioned before them,
and of finding themselves, at the end of nine months’
residence at Chatham, gazetted, one to a black regi-
ment in the West Indies, and the other to a regiment
stationed in Hong Kong, at that time very unhealthy,
~and not considered a desirable place to serve in.
Both passed over to the great majority long ago,
the one after a troubled career, which ended un-
fortunately ; the other after an uneventful service
in a light cavalry regiment, into which he had been
allowed to exchange from the black corps.

At the foot of the hill on which Fort Pitt stands
there was—still is—a row of humble houses, in which
aspirants to the Army Medical Department found
lodgings. This went by the name of Supernumerary
Row. Whether or not that was the proper name, I
do not remember, but I never heard it called by any
other. The house I myself found shelter in was not
in this celebrated row, but stood by itself at the
corner of a field, and at the head of the road leading
down to Chatham, and was the best and quietest
lodging in the place. The expense of our lodgings
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was not great, and the landladies made little else
by us, for we lived at the ‘nutreetious’ mess within
the fort. There, however, we did not dare to give
free scope to our youthful and convivial inclinations,
80 were obliged to have our merry meetings in each
other’s lodgings, where we spent our evenings with
musie, instrumental and vocal, choosing the most
exciting tunes, and selecting songs with choruses, in
which more than a dozen voices joined to their full
extent of power, making up in noise any deficiency
in melody. _

One of our party (poor Dakers, long since dead)
performed on the piano ; Shelton (still living) played
the flute and cornet alternately; and Todd (also
dead) the violin; so that, with these instruments
and the human voice, we often made a tremendous
uproar, which, fortunately, could not be heard at
Fort Pitt, and there being no other lodgers than
ourselves in the row—indeed, no outsider would live
there—there was nobody to complain of our pro-
ceedings. We were very temperate at our convivial
parties, the only liquor allowed being hot gin-and-
water, made by the master of the revels in a large
puﬁch-bow], and ladelled out by him into wine-
glasses to the guests. Each man brought his own
long clay-pipe and tobacco, and the cloud of smoke
from a dozen pipes filled the room almost to suffo-

.
cation.
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After an absence of nearly thirty years, I visited
Chatham again, as a Deputy Inspector General, to
see if the Principal Medical Officer’s quarters would
suit me, and accommodate 'my family (my friend,
Sir Galbraith Logan, then Director-General, having
given me my choice of Chatham, Plymouth, or Man-
chester), but fouud the house too small. Of course
on that occasion I went to take a look at Super-
numerary Row, and found it just as I had left it;
but the house in which I had lodged myself was
gone, the spot on which it had stood and the neigh-
bouring field being occupied by the railway.

As I walked slowly along, looking at the old
familiar houses, I met an old woman, with whom [
entered into conversation. She remembered the days
of the supernumeraries, and, on my telling her that I .
had been one of them nearly thirty years ago, she
brightened up, and remarked,

‘Ah, those were pleasant days, when the young
gentlemen used to keep us all alive and awake with
their evening parties. We miss their noise and fun,
sir, and we miss the money that they spent among us.’

I was glad to meet anybody that had a kind
remembrance of the supernumerary.
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CHAPTER Il

Weary Waiting—Volunteers for Sierra Leone—Another Ex-
amination—Appointment to 91st Regiment—First Appear-
ance in Uniform at Mess—My Reminiscences—Grateful
Thanks to Reviewers and Public—Sail for Cape of Good
Hope—Feelings on leaving Home—An Old Companion and
Friend—Cape Town—Table Mountain—Sail for Algoa Bay
—Landing in Surf—Port Elizabeth—The Old Commandant
—Start for Grahams Town—The Cape Wagon—The Vor-
loeper—The Hottentot and his Vrow.

I HAD been two months at Chatham before any of
the supernumeraries were given commissions. At
the end of those two months, however, four were
gazetted to regiments; two, Anderson and Mackie
(the latter a great friend of mine, with whom 1 had
studied in Dublin), to the 9th Regiment, then serving
in India ; and Johnston and Thompson to West India
regiments, both being volunteers for service on the
west coast of Africa. In those days, as at present,
only volunteers were sent to Sierra Leone, or other
African deperrdencies, and often service in Africa
was sought for and accepted as the only way of
getting into the general service; for, once gazetted
to a black regiment, it only required a little interest,
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or a little money, to obtain a transfer, or to effect
an exchange into the regular service. Such was the
case, if I remember rightly, with my friends Johnston
and Thompson. They went to the West Indies, and
joined their black regiments, but never served on
the < West Coast,” as Sierra Leone and other stations
were spoken of, and were either transferred or ex-
changed to Regiments of the Line serving in India.

During three months after the departure of those
four, no appointments were made ; but at the end of
that time it was suddenly intimated to all of us who
were still waiting hopefully—not very patiently
though—that we were to be ready for our examina-
tion in natural history, and from this we conjectured
that the period of probation wasnearly over, and that
we should shortly be gazetted.

As I have already stated, Sir James McGregor re-
quired a certain knowledge of this branch of learning
of all candidates, and to ascertain the extent of their
knowledge they were examined in the subject by Dr.
Smith at Chatham, assisted by two other medical
officers—by a board, in fact. Failure to pass this
examination was supposed—was known indeed,—to
be noted in one’s sheet, or record of service, -and to
influence the Director-General in appointments to
regiments or stations. I never knew if my companions
worked up the subject, but I myself read very hard
during the five months that 1 was waiting in ex-
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pectation of the examination, so hard that I became
interested in it, and have continued to be so ever
since.

Well, we were all examined, and passed, but
whether with ¢honours’ or not I never heard, or even
whether Dr. Smith reported favourably or not of all
of us. In my own case Dr. Smith began, as it seemed
to me, cautiously at first; but, seeing that I answered
his questions quickly and accurately, he went deeper
into the subject, examined me in the minute anatomy
of snakes and fishes, and appeared surprised and
pleased that I knew so much. At the end of my ex-
amination, which was a long one, he expressed his
satisfaction, and told me that he would make a very
favourable report of me and of my examination to the
Director-General. I must here confess that 1 knew
nothing practically of natural history, and especially
of the anatomy of reptiles and fishes, but, as I have
said, I read hard on the whole subject, and, having a
very retentive memory, was able to remember what
I had read, and to answer well and quickly. I
can remember to this day some of the questions
put to me by Dr. Smith, especially about the anatomy
of poisonous snakes, which happened to have been
the very subject that he was writing on at the time.
The success of my examination, I believe, had some in-
fluence on my destination, as we shall see by-and-by.

About a fortnight after the date of these examina-

c2
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tions (viz., towards the end of November), eleven of us
received intimations from our tailors in London that
we should shortly appear in the gazette specifying
regiments and destinations. My artist informed me
that T should be appointed to the 91st Argyllshire
Regiment, then stationed in South Africa. This then
was the result of my successful examination : I was to
go to Dr. Smith’s pet station, most probably for the
purpose of sending him home specimens, and this
proved to be the case. I was very well contented,
for the 91st was my own county regiment—at least,
I had spent my boyhood in Argyllshire—and the Cape
was a healthy station, and as it was kept in a state of
chronic disturbance by the Kaffirs, I thought that I
might have an opportunity of seeing some service
there, and which happened in due time.

On the 6th of December, 1844, the whole eleven of
us appeared in the same gazette. Massy to the 31st,
in India; Stack to the 84th, in India (afterwards killed
in action during the Mutiny); Todd to the 86th, in
India; Irwin to the 72nd, in the West Indies (whither
the good fellow went, and died, very shortly after
arrival, of yellow fever) ; Munro to the 91st, in South
Africa; Viret to the 98th, in Hong Kong ; MacAndrew
to the 96th, in India; O’Brien and Dakers to the
Ceylon Rifles; Woodman to the 3rd West India Regi-
ment; and Huish to a regiment in Australia, but I
forget the number of the corps. I write entirely from
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memory, and may possibly be wrong in regiments
and stations, but think not.

There was no little excitement and animated con-
versation in Fort Pitt next day ; the majority pleased
with their regiments and destinations, the minority
not satisfied with either, but accepting their fate
quietly and making the best of it good-humouredly.
And then the first night we all appeared at mess in
our red jackets;—there was a smile of pleasure on
every man’s face, and perhaps a little assumption of
military bearing, a source of amusement to the one or
two old officers present, and perhaps of a feeling a
little akin to jealousy on the part of the remaining
supernumeraries ; while to us, who were at last com-
missioned officers, it was a relief to have got beyond
that primary stage of development. On duty it was
a great satisfaction to be treated by non-commission-
ed officers, orderlies, and patients with more respect
than formerly, and out of doors to receive and return
the salute of sentries and of passing soldiers; and to
all of us it was intensely pleasant to feel that we
were now fairly launched into independent life, with
a career before us in which we all hoped for success.

At first I was under the impression that my regi-
ment was a Highland one, that is, wore the Highland
dress, and was a little disappointed when the tailor
made his appearance with the uniform of an ordinary
line regiment. I had always set my mind on belong-
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ing to a Highland corps, and in after years had my
desire fulfilled, as my ¢ Reminiscences of Military Ser-
vice with the 93rd Highlanders, published two years
ago, will explain to those who have done me the
honour to read that book,—my first attempt, or at
least my first appearance before the public, as an
author, who now begs to express his grateful thanks
for the kind reception which his book met with from
reviewers, the public, and his own personal friends—
a reception which has encouraged him to try again,
and to publish these his ¢ Recollections and Experi-
ences as an Army Medical Officer, extending over a
gervice of thirty-seven years.

I remained at Chatham, after my appointment to
the 91st, two months; and early in February, 1845,
received orders to join,my regiment, having been
granted a certain sum (forty pounds, I think it was)
to arrange for my passage in any way I pleased.
Accordingly I took my passage in the Mary Ann,
an East Indiaman, an old teak ship, with rather an
interesting history attached to her, as she had been
built in the Mauritius by order of the Emperor Na-
poleon. How she passed under the British flag, I
never heard, or, if 1 heard, have forgotten. She was
a small ship, only six hundred tons burden, and was
the property of the captain (a Mr. Darke), and of the
doctor (Mr. McLaren),‘ both of whom I have only
met once since I sailed with them forty years ago.
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Several days before 1 left Chatham, I was invited
to breakfast by Dr. Smith, an honour which had not
been vouchsafed to any other of the young fellows,
so the invitation was looked upon by them and by
myself as a special mark of favour. It may have
been intended as such, but, as I found, there was
another object besides this. However, I was received
in a very kindly manner, introduced to Mrs. Smith,
and given a good Scotch breakfast, after which Dr.
Smith carried me off to his study, and gave me some
good advice for the guidance of my future conduct
in the service, which may be summed up in veryfew
words, and to the following effect, viz., ‘Never to
neglect my duty, but to perform it with all my might,
and as if there was no limit to it,—advice which I
never forgot,—¢to respect and be obedient to my
departmental seniors—never to quarrel with my com-
manding and brother officers—never to be ashamed
of wearing uniform,” and lastly, ‘never to get into
debt” :

All this good and kindly advice I followed faith-
fully, or tried to follow, throughout my whole career.

Having said all this in a very fatherly way, there
was a short pause, as if to give me time to arrange
it all on the tablets of my memory, and then he
continued,

¢ You are going to a part of the world in which I
am much interested, and in which I think you will
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be interested also, for it is a wide field for the study
of natural history, which you appear to have paid
some attention to, if I may judge from your exami-
nation. You know, probably, that I am writing on
the zoology of Southern Africa, but at present I am
in want of some specimens of “poisonous snakes,”
especially the poff-adder, and shall be much obliged
if you will try to send me some.’

Here then was an explanation of my having been
appointed to a regiment at the Cape, and of my
having been asked to breakfast—I was supposed to
be a naturalist, and was expected to supply Dr. Smith
with specimens to help him in his writings. Well, I
promised to do so, and kept my promise, though not
to the full extent of Dr. Smith’s requirements, or of
my own inclinations, but circumstances over which I
had no control prevented me, as will be seen in a
future chapter.

Early in the month of February, 1845, I embarked
at Gravesend on board the good ship Mary Ann, at
ten o’clock, p.m. It was a bitterly cold night, and a
dense fog hung over the river, so dense that it was
with difficulty 1 found my ship, which was lying at
anchor out in the middle of the stream. On getting
on board, I soon found my cabin and bed, for every-
thing on deck was ¢‘wringing wet, and below, where
there was no fire, the cold was intense.

" None of my own relations were able to see me off,
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but one friend (an old college chum) accompanied
me on board, gave me a last shake of the hand, and
wished me God’s speed. With this friend I have
been in constant communication ever since, and, no
matter where our lot has been cast, we have corre-
sponded regularly—of late years we have often met.
It is rare indeed to find the friendship of boyhood
and youth last without a check through early man-
hood, middle life, unto old age, blossoming as fresh
as ever, and with undiminished affection and regard
even in the sunset of life; but still more rare to
find the same friendship and affection existing in a
second generation amongst the children of two old
friends.

Such is the case, however, with my former boy-
friend and class-fellow (Dr. Magrath of Teignmouth)
and myself, and with our children. A friendship of
forty-five years, kept up without interruption,—al-
though the distance of half the globe often lay
between us for years at a time, and although we
were employed in different spheres of action, the one
in the quiet of civil life, the other in the changing
and often stormy scenes of a military career—has
been transmitted to our. children, is certain to last
throughout their lives (for they are now connected
by marriage), and is therefore likely to be handed
down to even a third and fourth generation.

That first night on board ship was not a very
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comfortable, nor a very happy one—not comfortable,
owing to the intense cold and the terrible river fog,
which found its way into the ship, even into my
very cabin; not happy, because the excitement of
-preparation was over, and I was actually on board
the ship that was to carry me away from home;
and also because, being quite alone, I began to think
of the future, to reflect that here I was separated
from all my friends, launched into independent life,
in which I should have to earn my own bread, act on
my own responsibilities amidst difficulties and tempta-
tions; and,in the career of an army surgeon, exposed
to probable dangers of which T had no experience,
- and without a friend to lean on or seek advice from.
I am not ashamed to acknowledge that, in the tumult
of such thoughts, I was astonished, perplexed, be-
wildered, and unable to sleep for hours. Though a
man, I was only a very young one, just twenty-one,
and this was the first time in my life that I had ever
known what it was to be quite alone.

Next morning we were towed down the river as
far as the Nore, where we anchored for the night.
Next day, with an east wind, we commenced our
voyage, and ran down Channel and out into the
Atlantic with a fair wind, which carried us as far
as the Bay of Biscay. There we encountered a
south-westerly gale, which the good ship rode out
gallantly. This was the only occasion on which I
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have seen the dreaded bay really angry, and since
" then I have crossed it a dozen times.

Our voyage was an uneventful one. We called
nowhere, and on the fifty-ninth day came to anchor
in Table Bay, and landed the same afternoon.

Early next morning I reported my arrival to the
Principal Medical Officer (Dr. Kinnis), who received
me very kindly, and at once sent in my name to
the Adjutant-General, with a view to my being
ordered a passage by steamer, which was to sail in
three days for Algoa Bay, from whence I should
proceed by land to Grahamstown, where my regi-
ment was then stationed. I spent the three days
in Capetown very pleasantly. I was surprised at
the extent of the town, and its solid and regular
construction, and at the little old Dutch fort called
the ¢Castle’; and delighted with the grand moun-
tain scenery which lies behind, and almost overhangs,
the town, consisting of two lofty and almost distinct
ridges—the Lion’s Rump and Table Mountain. The
broad, flat summit of the latter was at the time veiled
in a dense sheet of snow-white vapour, which rested
not only along the whole length of the flat surface,
but hung down over the rocky, perpendicular face
of the mountain to a certain depth, where, meeting
with a warm stratum of air, it was suddenly dis-
solved, just as if it had been cut off in a straight
line.
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Locally, this cloud of vapour is spoken of as the

table-cloth. It covers Table Mountain only when
the wind blows from the south-east. In moderate
weather it appears to rest on, and hang over, the
mountain quietly, peacefully, but in a strong breeze
or regular south-easter, it sweeps over the summit
at a tremendous pace, rolling down with great ve-
locity, until it reaches the warm air, when it is sud-
denly dissipated. On the present occasion I had
not time to ascend either the Lion’s Rump or Table
. Mountain, but on a future visit succeeded in climb-
ing to the top of both.
" I had time, however, for a ride to Wynberg and
Rondebosch, to visit the extensive vineyards in these
localities, especially Constantia, where the celebrated
wine of that name is made.

On the afternoon of the third day, I went on board
the little coasting steamer, which sailed the same
evening for Algoa Bay. We had a quick run of
three days and nights; but never in all my voyages
(seventeen up to the present day) have I seen such
a rough, tumbling sea as we had in rounding Cape
Aiguillas. Fortunately the wind was fair, for, had it
not been so, I doubt if our little vessel could have
made headway, or even lived in such a tremendous
tumult of waters.

Having anchored in Algoa Bay (almost an open
roadstead), we were landed in large surf-boats; and,
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on these touching the ground, we (ladies and gentle-
men) were lifted out, and carried in the arms of
naked Kaffirs through the breakers to land.

Fort Elizabeth, situated close down on the shore
of the bay, was then a small ttading village, but
has since grown into a large and populous town
of considerable commercial importance. At that time
the settlement consisted of about twenty houses,
built close to the sea, and in the immediate vicinity
of a small fort. The inhabitants were partly English
and partly Dutch. The latter, I think, preponder-
ated, but had intermarried with the English, or rather
the English had taken to themselves Dutch wives;
and so both languages were spoken by the members
of the little community.

On landing, T reported myself to the commandant,
a tall, powerful, grey-headed old lieutenant—a Scotch-
man, who, though he had been upwards of forty
years in South Africa, still retained the broad Scotch
accent, the only part of his nationality that he had
not forgotten—at least, so gossip said. He lived
alone, but had a large following of Hottentot servants,
male and female, about his home.

He told me that, when he first assumed command
at Port Elizabeth, wild beasts—lions, leopards, and
elephants—came close to the little settlement, unde-
terred by man’s presence; but that for many years
they had not approached the town, though still to be
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found in the dense forests in the neighbourhood, and
especiallyin a dense and extensive forest which Ishould
have to pass through on my way to Grahamstown.

On the afternoon of the second day after landing,
a large covered wagon on four wheels, drawn by
twelve pair of oxen, drew up at the door of the little
inn to receive myself and baggage. It was an im-
mense machine, capable of containing four times the
~amount of baggage in my possession. However, I
stowed away my little property, and made a fairly
comfortable shakedown foc myself on the top of all.
A gentleman and his wife, who had been fellow-
passengers with me on board the Mary Ann, travelled
with me, but in another wagon. They, like myself,
were new arrivals, so we agreed to keep together,
and be helpful to each other.

A little before sunset we made a start: Grahams-
town our destination : the distance one hundred miles,
which would take us five or six days to accomplish.
‘We had no servants, and therefore were at the mercy
of our Hottentot escort, which consisted of two men,
two boys, and two women ; the men to drive, the
boys to lead the oxen in difficult places, hence called
¢ vorloepers’ (pronounced forloupers), and the women
to gather fuel, cook, and make themselves useful to
their husbands (or masters), and to usalso, at the rate
of a rixdollar (1s. 6d.) a day.

The Hottentot is short of stature, but well formed
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and wiry, of a yellowish-brown colour, with a small
round head, covered over with black curly wool;
small eyes set far apart, flat nose, and thick lips, the
upper fringed with a scraggy woolly moustache. He
is better looking than the negro, has a léss pro-
nounced facial angle, and possesses far more intelli-
gence and self-reliance ; but he is an ugly specimen
of mankind, and of all the races of Southern Africa
the smallest and the ugliest, except the Bushman,
who certainly is much shorter, uglier, and less intelli-
gent. The Hottentot woman is not beautiful, but
her physical development is remarkable, which to be
appreciated must be seen.

As the wagon drove up to the inn and my escort
stood before me, I cannot now describe what my
astonishment was then. They were the first Hotten-
tots I had seen, and were (as I afterwards found) per-
fect specimens. The man stood about five feet six
inches, was very slight, and possessed all the typical
characteristics of the race ; he was dressed in a tight-
fitting suit of leather, and wore a broad-brimmed
straw hat, ornamented with black ostrich feathers, on
his head. The woman was shorter, very stout—in
fact, embonpoint all round ; she was scantily and loose-
ly clad, and with a bright coloured cotton handker-
chief on her head as covering and ornament, while
the boy, a diminutive skeleton, was entirely naked.
These were to be my escort for the next week.
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THE inspection of our escort was not very reassuring
to my travelling companion and self, and was really
a cause of uneasiness to his wife, so we gentlemen
agreed to keep watch turn-about during the night.
Not altogether that we were afraid of our Hottentots,
but thought it prudent to show them that we knew
how and meant to take care of ourselves ; and besides,
having read (and heard even since arrival) that
savage beasts were numerous at the Cape, and not
unfrequently made sudden and unexpected attacks
on the unwary at night, we thought it not impossible
that some monster prowling about in search of prey
might pay us a visit.
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The first watch fell to me, so, unpacking my gun
and loading with ball, I seated myself on the wagon
box, with eye and ear on the alert, ready for any foe
(man or beast) that might appear.

Before our arrangements for the night were com-
pleted, the sun had disappeared below the horizon,
and we were moving slowly along in a dim uncertain
light, in which objects around us appeared at one
moment to be magnified, at another to assume fantas-
tic shapes, to which the light air that was stirring,
or the swaying of the heavy wagon in which I was
seated, imparted a tremulous motion that caused
me to strain my eyes to ascertain if they were living
creatures.

But soon the deep-blue vault above was lit up with
innumerable stars and brilliant constellations, which
cast a steadier light along the broad straight track on
which we travelled, enabling us to recognise more
distinctly all objects near us, and even to see to some
distance over the broad open spacesin the forest, and
down the long narrow vistas that stretched away
into the dense mimosa bush on either side of the
road. .

As I sat on my wagon box, thinking and listening,
no sound to be heard but the loud breathing of the
labouring oxen, and the heavy tread of their hoofs on
the hard sandy soil, a sudden shout from my vor-
loeper, which conveyed to my ears the word,
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¢baboon,” startled me into watchfulness. I was on
my feet at once, slung the gun round into my left
hand, placed my right thumb on the hammer, and
looked straight to the front, ready to do battle with
the monster which I expected to see approaching
with great bounds and leaps right into the midst of
us. My Hottentot and his wife, who were walking
along beside the wagon, looked up at me a little
surprised, and said something amusing, or encourag-
ing, or depreciative, but whick I could not tell, and
then burst out into a roar of laughter, in which I
joined, as they hunded me an immense pumpkin,
which the vorloeper had picked up on the road, and
had run back with ; at the same time repeating, as I
thought, the word baboon.

Afterwards I learned that ¢papoon’ (so like and
so easily mistaken for baboon) meant only a pumpkin.
I was perhaps less watchful after this, feeling a little
shy over my unnecessary alarm, but there was another
soon to follow.

About ten o’clock, p.m., we outspanned—that is,
halted, unyoked the oxen, and turned them loose to
graze and rest. The Hottentots quickly lighted fires,
one for themselves and one for me, both close to each
other, for I did not feel much inclined to sit away by
myself during the remainder of my watch. In a very
few minutes men, women, and boys lay down upon
the ground, huddled close to each other, with their
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feet turned towards the fire, and were soon sound
‘asleep.

1 remained awake for some time, but ere long,
soothed by the warmth given out by the glowing
embers, began to nod, but suddenly was startled into
wakefulness by the most unearthly howling and
discordant barking, seemingly all round me, both
different in degree and sound, but every now and
then so blended as to form a terribly inharmonious
chorus. Springing to my feet, I kicked the sleeping
Hottentots into life; but, to my astonishment, they
simply raised themselves on their elbows, listened for
a moment, and then, with a grumble, laid themselves
down again. 1 stood ready for defence, however,
while this awful chorus went on around me, at one
moment sounding close by loud and furious, deep
bass and piercing treble blending and rising to hor-
rible intensity, and then dying away slowly and
mournfully, as if at a distance. This was repeated
over and over again, until, seeing that my escort
slept on, and that no enemy appeared, I got accus-
tomed to, or at least less alarmed at it, and sat down
again, listening in wonder to sounds such as I had
never heard before, or even imagined. At midnight
my watch ended, so I gladly stirred up my com-
panion to take his turn, giving him the benefit of my
experience, assuring him, as I handed him the gun,
that, though I had been startled by strange sights

D 2
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and alarmed by unearthly sounds, no living monster
had appeared. This was my first experience of the
howl of the hyena (or wolf, as it is called at the
Cape), and the bark and whine of the jackal, sounds
which, heard for the first time at the dead hour of
night by a man sitting alone in the bush, are enough
to make his nerves tingle. I became familiar enough
with them in after years both in Africa and India.

Soon after midnight we ¢trecked’ (moved on
again), outspanned (halted, and unyoked the oxen)
about ten o’clock in the morning, to let the animals
graze and rest, and to refresh ourselves, inspanned
(yoked the oxen) again shortly after noon, and crept
slowly on until sunset, when we outspanned ; trecked
again after midnight, and travelled until the morn-
ing. Such was our programme every day until we
arrived at Grahamstown; travelling always during
the cool hours of the twenty-four, and halting during
the greatest heat of the day, so as to ease the oxen
as much as possible, and save them from the persecu-
tion of myriads of flies.

We passed through extensive tracts of open coun-
try dotted over with Dutch farm-houses which were
surrounded by patches of cleared land; crossed
several rivers (or rather through river-beds, for only
shallow streams, at the time, trickled slowly amongst
great boulders), at fords, or ¢ drifts’ as they are called
at the Cape; and through part of the Addo Bush, an
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extengive forest in which great trees with umhrage-
ous foliage grew out of a thick undergrowth of thorny
mimosa bush. It was a dense, dark, gloomy forest, a
fit abode for the elephant and buffalo, and in the deep
recesses of which the old commandant at Port Eliza-
beth told us these animals were still to be found.

It was interesting to observe how docile and tract-
able the oxen were, submitting quietly to be in-
spanned, never wandering far from the wagon when
outspanned, travelling willingly, and without the
guidance of the vorloeper as long as the country
was open and the track clearly visible, and only
requiring his guidance where the road was not dis-
tinctly marked, in broken, irregular ground, or in
crossing drifts. The vorloeper, little more than a
child, walked in front, holding a ¢rheim’(or rope
of twisted raw hide), which was attached to the
horns of the two leading oxen, encouraging them
to follow by voice, or desiring them to halt both
by voice and by throwing handfulls of dust into
their eyes. The driver walked beside the wagon,
with his sign of office carried over his shoulder.
This sign of office was a bamboo cane from eighteen
to twenty-five feet long, to which was attached a
thong of raw hide, about the same length as the
bamboo. Whirling this thong in the air, high above
his head, he could lash it out to its full length,
and produce a crack loud as a pistol shot, or bring
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it down with unerring aim on any part of a lazy or
offending ox with a force that cut through the hide.

Our Hottentots, though apparently so unpreposses-
sing and unpromising at first, were civil and atten-
tive, and willingly made themselves useful to us;
and, considering that we could only communicate
with them by signs, as they spoke only Dutch, and
knew not a word of English, it was wonderful how
quickly they appeared to understand our wants and
wishes. In after years, I was often alone with Hot-
tentots, both as wagon-drivers and as soldiers, and I -
grew to like—at least,not to dislike them, and gradu-
ally picked up enough of their Dutch patois to be
able to speak to them, though not to converse freely.

I have never forgotten that week of travel at the
Cape. The climate was so pleasant, the sunshine so
bright, the air so pure and bracing that I was able
to walk during the whole day, and to employ myself
in exaniining the strange trees, plants, and flowers;
in observing the astonishing amount of insect life
that buzzed about, or crawled beneath me; and in
watching the gay-plumaged birds that saluted us
with strange, unmelodious cries. Everything was
new to me, and. different to life animate and inani-
mate, that I had hitherto seen; and I myself was so
young and strong, and free from care, that my enjoy-
ment of life and health was intense.

On arriving at Grahamstown, I at once reported
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myself to the commanding officer, and to the surgeon
of my regiment, by both of whom I was most kindly
received, and especially by the latter, of whom I
shall have to speak more than once in these my
recollections.

Grahamstown was at that time a small place,
with a population, including the military, of probably
two thousand. It lies in a valley encircled by low
hills, and watered by little streams (the head-waters
of the Cowie river). Why it was selected as the
site of the principal frontier town I do not know.
The presence of water (always a difficulty at the
Cape) may have influenced the selection, and proba-
bly also the fact of this well-watered little valley
being on the most direct line of road between Port
Elizabeth and our outposts on the Fish river, which was
then our frontier boundary on the east, near the sea.

I found the garrison to consist of the head-
quarters of the 27th Regiment (the old Enniskillens),
under the command of Colonel Johnstone; of the
head-quarters of the 91st Regiment (my own regi-
ment), under the command of Colonel Lindsay; and
the head-quarters of the Cape Corps, under the com-
mand of Colonel Somerset (irreverently, but, per-
haps, also with a certain amount of respectful ad-
miration, styled, in Cape phraseology, ¢Old Jack
Somerset’), and afterwards Commander-in-Chief at
Bombay. There was also a company of Sappers,
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under the command of Captain Walpole, R.E,, to
which Lieutenant Jervois (now Sir William, Gover-
nor of New Zealand) was attached.

The 27th Regiment occupied the Drostdie Bar-
racks—drostdie, a Dutch word, meaning, I believe,
council-house, or residence of chief magistrate. The
91st Regiment occupied the old thatch-roofed bar-
racks at Fort England—a height above, and to the
east of the town, where probably there had been
a fort, but of which, however, there was no appear-
ance at the time of which I write. The Cape Corps,
then consisting entirely of Hottentots (or ¢ Totties’),
with European officers and non-commissioned officers,
occupied a new range of barracks situated to the left
of the Drostdie, on the right-rear of which stood thenew
hospital for European corps, in which each regiment
occupied a separate portion of the building, with
its own regimental establishment ; and to the left-front
of the Drostdie stood a new range of officers’ quarters.

The Lieutenant-Governor of the Frontier was
Colonel Hare, C.B., a veteran who had fought at
Waterloo, and as a subaltern (or captain, 1 forget
which) had assumed command of the 27th Regiment
after the battle, all senior to him having been either
killed or wounded. The Lieutenant-Governor was
styled ¢his honour.” His aide-de-camp was Captain
Hare, of the 27th Regiment, whom I have had the
pleasure of meeting very lately.
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Grahamstown was then in the form of an irregular
square, probably so built with a view to defence.
There was one broad main street from either side of
which branched off at right angles several smaller
streets. At the head of the main street stood the
Drostdie, and about the middle stood the church, on
either side of which were the principal shops or stores.
On the outskirts of the town were some substantial
private dwelling-houses, and several cottages, some
occupied by civilians, others the property of Govern-
ment, and used as officers’ quarters. The town and
suburbs were commanded by the height on which the
Fort England barracksstood, and by the high ground
behind the Drostdie.

Such was Grahamstown forty years ago, but now
I believe it is a large and populous town, and of con-
siderable commercial importance.

Within a few days after arrival, I was settled in
quarters which consisted of one room (in the old
Drostdie house), that being the extent of accommoda-
tion allowed to a medical officer ranking as lieu-
tenant ; and the surgeon, Mr. Hadaway, commenced
to initiate me into the routine of regimental duty.
This I found in many respects different from the
routine of duty which I had been taught at Fort Pitt,
and much more agreeable, ‘inasmuch as I had only
one master, who treated me as an equal, instead of
several, who had no interest in me and did not con-
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sider me an equal. Besides, I was able to get through
the regimental work much quicker, even though it
included all the professional duties of the hospital,
the care of women and children, and attendance at
parades. The surgeon retained only a general super-
vision, for, being the senior medical officer, he had
various staff duties and correspondence to attend to
—in fact, to act as Principal Medical Officer on the
frontier. This did not necessarily exempt him from
regimental duty, nor give him additional allowances,
except forage for a second charger. There was no
option in the matter, however, for being seniorin the
service he was obliged to accept the responsibilities
of the position, and the kudos, if there was any.

At the same time I was making the acquaintance
of my brother-officers. The few that were present at
head-quarters (the majority being with detachments
at several outposts) gave me a most kind reception,
making me feel at once that I was a member of the
regiment, and one of themselves ; and my good old
friend, Captain Dalrymple (the paymaster) took me
under his wing, and was most fatherly and helpful to
me then and ever after. He passed over to the great
majority years ago, but his kindness to me when I
was young and in need of advice and help still dwells
in my memory. He died, or rather was killed, in
Pirseus (Greece) in 1855 ; but I will refer to this in
another chapter.
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The military force in South Africa in 1845 was
small. It was composed of Royal Artillery and Royal
Engineers, the head-quarters of both being at Cape--
town, with detachments at Fort Beaufort, a military
post on the Kat river, and on the north-western
frontier, near the territories of the Kaffir chiefs San-
dilli and Macomo, and at Colesberg, on the Orange
river ; of the 7th Dragoon Guards, the 27th Regiment,
two battalions of the 91st Regiment (first and reserve),
and of the Cape Corps. The head-quarters of the
7th Dragoon Guards were at Fort Beaufort, and a
detachment at Colesberg. The head-quarters of the
27th Regiment were at Grahamstown, whilst its de-
tachments were at Capetown, in the Fish river out-
posts, and at Natal. The head-quarters of my own
regiment”(first battalion of the 91st) were at Grahams-
town, and the detachments at Fort Peddie, beyond
the Fish river and really in Kaffir territory, and a
large detachment of three companies at Colesberg.
The reserve battalion of the 91st Regiment was at
Fort Beaufort. The head-quarters of the Cape Corps
was at Grahamstown, but had detachments every-
where except at Natal. In 1845, therefore, the total
strength of the force in South Africa did not exceed
three thousand two hundred men.

The little force at Colesberg, on the Orange river,
consisting of Royal Artillery, cavalry, and infantry,
had been sent thither in protection of the Griquas



44 . MEDICAL OFFICERS.

against the Boers; but of this expedition I shall speak
in a future chapter.

The head-quarters of my own regiment consisted
of only three weak companies, numbering about two
hundred men, with nine officers, including the regi-
mental staff, and, as only four of the officers were
bachelors, the colonel had closed the mess. The
small number of officers may have been the colonel’s
reason for this proceeding, but, whatever was the
reason (and there appeared to me to be some doubt
on the subject), it was not a judicious step; put us
unmarried officers to much inconvenience, was con-
trary to the Queen’s regulations—a sacred text-book
in those days,—and made him (the colonel) unpopular
at the time, and ever after, I think.

But while our mess remained closed, until the
return of the detachment from Colesberg, we as
honorary members found a hospitable home and
- friendly reception from the 27th Regiment, whose
mess fortunately was open.

The medical officers in the command were First-
class Staff-Surgeon Dr. Kennis, P. M. O., and Second-
class Staff-Surgeon Dr. Forrest, at Cape Town; Sur-
geon Hadaway, of the 91st, Surgeon Eddie, Cape
Corps, Second-class Staff-Surgeon Dr. Minto, Assist-
ant-Surgeon Dr. Delmege, of the 27th, and myself, at
Grahamstown ; Assistant-Surgeon Dr. Irwin, of the
27th, at Fort Peddie ; Assistant-Surgeon Dr. Walsh,
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of the Royal Artillery, and Assistant-Surgeon Dr.
Barclay, Reserve Battalion of the 91st, at Fort Beau-
fort ; Assistant-Surgeon Power, 7th Dragoon Guards,
and Assistant-Staff-Surgeon Gibb at Colesberg;
Assistant-Surgeon Allen, Cape Corps, and Staff-Assist-
ant-Surgeon Dr. Fraser somewhere on the frontier,
and Staff-Assistant-Surgeons Fraser and McGregor
at Natal, making a total of sixteen medical officers.
I give their names, how they were employed, and
where stationed entirely from memory, and have
been thus particular in naming regiments and stating
strength and disposition of the troops and of medical
officers to show what were our available means of
aggression or defence in the event of war with the
Kaffir tribes.

Dr. Stewart, Surgeon of the 7th Dragoon Guards,
and Dr. Mostyn, Surgeon of the 27th Regiment, were
at home on leave. The latter was an old and dis~
tinguished officer, having been at Waterloo as Assist-
ant-Surgeon of .the 27th Regiment. In 1845, there-
fore, he had been at least twenty-seven years in the
service, and was still a regimental surgeon. This no
doubt would be considered slow promotion by medi-
cal officers of the present day; but I can assure them
that I have met officers in the service who had been
twenty-five years assistant-surgeons, ranking during
all these long years as leutenants, and receiving,
during the greater part of that quarter-of-a-century,
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pay at the rate of seven shillings and sixpence per
diem; and yet they were not broken-hearted, but
waiting hopefully, though perhaps a little impa-
tiently, for promotion.

In 1844, when I entered the service, assistant-
surgeons were congidered very fortunate if they
obtained promotion to the rank of surgeon after
fiften years. In 1850 the time was reduced to be-
_ tween thirteen and fourteen years, just before the
Crimea to eleven, ten, and nine years, and during
that war some few were promoted after eight, seven,
six, and five years, and this rapid promotion con-
tinued until after the Mutiny in India, when it
gradually returned to nine, ten, and eleven years.

Forty years ago South Africa was not by any
means a remunerative station to serve in, as there
were no colonial allowances except one or two very
small ones. Every officer was allowed forage for one
Bat horse, to carry his luggage when-on field-service.
It was a permanent allowance, however, and not
given only during a period of war. He also received
gome two or three pounds sterling a quarter. This
was called ¢ Barrel bulk allowance, and was given in
lieu of the Regent’s allowance. In the case of regi-
mental officers this allowance was credited to the
mess, while staff-officers drew and benefited person-
ally by it. All medical officers were allowed forage
for two horses, a charger and a bat, also one shilling
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per day saddle allowance. I had, therefore, to buy
two horses, and to supply myself with saddlery, etc. ;
but there was no difficulty in procuring either, and

. on very moderate terms. A good riding-horse for a
light weight could be bought in those days for the
sum of twenty-two pounds, ten shillings, and excel-
lent ponies for one-third of that sum. My horse,
nearly fifteen hands high and young, I bought
from Hadaway for twenty-two pounds, ten shillings.
People ill-naturedly said that he always had a horse
to sell to a young doctor. Well, he sold me a very
good one, which I had much pleasure in riding, and
which I did not lose any money by. My pony I got
from Dalrymple the paymaster for seven pounds, ten
shillings. He was under fourteen hands, young, a
perfect beauty, and swift as the wind. I kept him
until we were ordered home, and then sold him for
more than I had paid. My saddlery I bought from
John Douglas, a countryman, a good, honest fellow,
but upon whom the climate of the Cape had the
peculiar effect of making him thirsty oftener than
was good for him.

Having spent two months at head-quarters, receiv-
ing instruction from the surgeon in regimental
routine, and having mounted myself and got all
necessary equipment, I received orders to proceed to
Fort Peddie, to take medical charge of that station,
and of another called Trumpeter’s Drift.
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CHAPTER IV.

Start for Fort Peddie—My Soldier Servant—Trumpeter’s Drift—
Fish River Bush—Arrive at Fort Peddie—Captain Wright of
the 91st—Mr. Shepstone, now Sir Theophilus—Missionaries
—XKaffirs and Fingoes—Their Language—Rites and Cus-
toms—Their Marriage Ceremony—Courts of Justice or
Appeal—Religious Belief—Witchcraft—The Chiefs Pato and
Umkai—Kraals.

AT the end of June, 1845, I started for Fort Peddie,
where there was a detachment of the 91st Regiment
under Captain Wright. Having packed my belongings
in a waggon, I started at early morning, riding one
horse, my servant the other. This servant was an
.old soldier, a sturdy Scot, who rejoiced in the not
very euphonious name of Scaur, commonly pro-
nounced ¢Scurr’ in the regiment. He was an old
St. Helena man, consequently fond of his liquor, and
not very particular at whose expense he drank it, as
I discovered to my surprise and cost, so that we did
not remain long in the relative positions of master
and man, but parted before many weeks under the
following circumstances—to wit, on detachment it
was necessary to keep a private stock of liquor for
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one’s own use and the use of friends; consequently
I took with me to Fort Peddie what I thought would
be a sufficient quantity of both brandy and wine to
last some time. I was not a brandy-drinker myself
at that time, nor have I ever been, yet my stock
diminished rapidly, and I never suspected how or
why, until one day, on inspecting my cellar, 1 found
a bottle half-full of a curious, opaque-coloured mix-
ture, which on tasting I found was brandy well-
watered; somebody, therefore, had replaced the
quantity of good liquor he had consumed with a
larger quantity of water, but dirty water. I did not
set the trap usually recommended in the Army for
theft of this kind, but determined to be on the watch,
not doubting for a moment that the thief had been
one of my servants, for at the time I had two.

My quarters consisted of two rooms, which com-
municated by a door. My servant always came
to ‘redd-up’ the sitting-room early in the morning,
long before I was out of bed, and, while so em-
ployed, invariably shut the door of communication.
One morning, however, he forgot to shut the door,
or perhaps he may have thought that I was still
asleep, and that it was unnecessary to take the
usual precaution. But I was awake, and, hearing
a clinking of bottles or glasses, I got quietly out
of bed, and stopd suddenly in the doorway, when,
standing in the middle of the room, with his back

VOL. I. E
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turned towards me, I saw my man ¢ Scurr’ with the
bottle of watered brandy at his mouth, and heard
the contents gurgling down his throat. On turning
round, and seeing me, he merely smiled, put the
empty bottle in the cupboard, and walked out, most
probably with the consciousness that there and then
our connection terminated. I failed to get him pun-
ished, for in the Army it is not a punishable crime
for a servant to drink his master’s liquor on his
master’s premises. The master should not leave it
in the servant’s way. If the servant took it away
and drank it on his own premises, that would be
theft (disgraceful conduct), for which he might be
punished. I got rid of ¢ Scurr’at once, and found
another servant, whe, though he was not a teetotaller,
was honest enough not to drink at his master’s
expense.

Fort Peddie stands on the north side of the great
Fish river, between it and the Keiskama, and is
distant from Grahamstown about forty miles by
road or track. This track runs across the Grahams-
town flats towards a chain of low hills, from thence
down through the dense Fish river bush to Trum-
peter’s Drift (or ford), where there is a small fortified
barrack close to the river ; from whence it ascends
due east, for about eight or nine miles, through a
narrow and difficult pass, broken by numerous rents
and hollows, choked up with great boulders, and




TRUMPETER'S DRIFT. 51

closely shut in by dense bush, or scrub, of prickly
mimosa, euphorbia, spek boom, aloe, etc., and then
opens on the level table-land, on which Fort Peddie
i8 situated, about nine miles off in a westerly direction.

Forty miles is two days’ good travelling with a
wagon, so that I should have to halt one night
at Trumpeter’s Drift—just half-way. It was slow
work crawling along beside a wagon ; but, as there
were several well-marked tracks running through
the otherwise impenetrable bush close to each other,
but possibly not all leading to Trumpeter’s Drift, I
was afraid to leave the wagon, lest I might take
the wrong track, or one that might lead me far out
the way. : '

At Trumpeter’s Drift, I found the Honourable F.
Pakenham, of the 27th Regiment, in command, by
whom I was kindly entertained for the night, and
who, on the following morning, sent me on my
way under an escort of two Cape Corps Hottentots,
smart, active, well-armed, and well-mounted little
soldiers. As long as we were in the pass, we could
travel only at a walk, but, on arriving on the level
plateau, we were able to make play, and, after a
couple of hours’ canter, reached Fort Peddie soon
after noon.

I at once reported my arrival to Captain Wright,
who, as I thought at the moment, received me with

distant politeness. I felt this a good deal; for I
E 2
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was a much younger man than he, and was ready
and anxious to be led, and even instructed by him.

But, after 1 came to know Wright well, and to
understand him better, I found that his manner was
the same 1o all strangers, and, if I may now venture
to speak of one who was so greatly superior to
his fellows, I should say that there was a shyness,
or rather modesty, in Wright’s nature which gave
those who met him for the first time an impression
that his manner was cold and distant. For some
time after my arrival, there was a certain amount
of constraint in our intercourse. It might have been
his fault, or it might have been mine—perhaps mine
more than his, for I was a touchy Scotchman—at
all events, it was my misfortune. But Wright was
not easy of access, and did not give his confidence
and friendship until he knew to whom he was giving
them ; but, when satisfied on this point, he gave
both freely and unreservedly, and they were worth
having.

After a time, we were constantly together, then
messed together, and at last became intimate friends.
When I knew him sufficiently well, I asked him
‘why he had kept me at arm’s length so long,” and
to my question he laughingly replied,

¢ Well, you must understand that we have had one
or two queer Scotch doctors in the regiment, and,
seeing from your name that you were Scotch, I
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thought it better to wait and see what sort of a
fellow you were before we should be acquainted.’

We had a good laugh over this explanation.

But that was the first time I was made to under-
stand that medical officers were sometimes unpopular
in their regiments, and with their brother-officers,
and the first and only time in my career that I
personally was made to feel uncomfortable in either
of the regiments in which I served.

The garrison of Fort Peddie consisted of one com-
pany of the 9lst Regiment and a company of the
Cape Corps, under Captain Cannon, also of two or
three artillerymen, a sergeant of the barrack depart-
ment, and a commissariat issuer, with their families,
The civil community was composed of Mr. Shepstone
and family, a missionary and family, and one or two
¢ winklers,’ or storekeepers. Mr. Shepstone (now Sir
Theophilus of Zulu celebrity) was at that time politi-
cal agent with the Kaffir tribes of Pato and Umkai,
and with the Fingoes, a tribe or race of Kaffir con-
sanguinity, like them in appearance, customs, and
manners, and speaking the same language; but had
been eaten up (conquered and despoiled) and held in
slavery by the Kaffirs for years, until freed by Sir
Benjamin D’Urban at the conclusion of the war of
1535 as one of the conditions of peace, and located
in the immediate vicinity of Fort Peddie, ¢ ceded’
territory as it was called, and of which Pato and
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Umkali, chiefs of branches of the great Gaika tribe,
had been dispossessed for the purpose. Mr. Shep-
stone not only had political control over Kaffirs and
Fingoes, but was also the elected chief of the latter.

The missionary (whose name I have forgotten),
with his family, lived close to the station in a very
comfortable house situated in the midst of the Fingo
kraals, and was employed in translating the Scriptures
into the Kaffir language, and in endeavouring, not
very successfully, to instruct the Fingo children in
morality and religion. About seven miles from
Peddie, on the Beka river, dwelt another missionary
with his family, also employed in translating the
Scriptures, and in endeavouring to instruct the Kaffir
tribes of Pato and Umkai, with even less success than
his confrére.

This constituted the whole community of Peddie,
civil and military, amounting altogether to about two
hundred and fifty persons. Wright was in military
command, and I in medical charge, my first independ-
ent charge.

The great Fishriver and the Keiskama run parallel
to each other for a considerable distance in an
easterly direction, and empty their waters on the east
coast into the Indian Ocean. The former was at one
time the boundary of the colony on the north-east,
but, after the war of 1834-5, territory lying between
the Fish and Keiskama rivers and in the neighbour-
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hood of the Kat and Koonap rivers (tributaries of the
Fish river) was declared neutral, the Kaffirs to retire
from it altogether, and we to establish military posts
on the south side of it at Forts Peddie, Beaufort, Cox,
&c. ; the first, midway between the Fish and Keis-
kama rivers, to keep in check the chiefs Pato and
Umkai, who had been allowed to re-occupy a portion
of the ceded territory, and to protect the Fingoes;
and Forts Beaufort and Cox, on the Kat river, to
overawe Sandilli and Macomo, two powerful chiefs of
the great Gaika tribe, of which Sandilli was the para-
mount chief.

Ascending from the valley of the Fish river by the
Trumpeter’s Pass, and emerging from its belt of thick
and almost impenetrable mimosa forest, one comes
out upon an irregular table-land intersected by thickly-
wooded narrow valleys, through which flow shallow
streams, and between which stretch open grassy
plains. On a rounded bluff, approached on the east
by a steep ascent covered with thick low brushwood,
and lying between two of these valleys, stand the fort
and station of Peddie, overlooking an extensive un-
dulating plain which stretches eastward to the sea;
and through one of these valleys flows a little stream,
widening every here and there in its course into deep
pools, and, sweeping round the eastern slope of the
bluff, takes a winding course northward and empties
its waters into the Beka river. Around this stream
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as far as the southern bank of the Beka, the Fingoes
were located, and the country between the Beka and
Keiskama was occupied by Pato’s tribe, and beyond
that to the west and along the Keiskama dwelt the
tribe of Umkai.

When the site of Fort Peddie was selected by Sir
Benjamin D’Urban, earthworks in the form of a star
fort were thrown up on the eastern extremity of the
bluff overlooking and commanding the plains and
ravines in that direction, and a masonry tower erected
about three hundred yards west of the fort to com-
mand the country and ravines to the west of the post,
under the direction of Colonel Peddie of the 72nd
Highlanders. Hence the name Fort Peddie. But, at
the time of which I write, this fort was not used, and
the tower contained government stores.

Two defensible stone barracks had been built, one
on either side of the bluff (north and south), where it
sloped into the valleys, the barrack on the north slope
for cavalry, and the other for infantry. Between
these barracks, on a considerable space of level
ground, stood a row of ¢ wattle and daub’ cottages,
used as officers’ quarters, and opposite these a long
line of houses, similarly constructed, in which was
the hospital, and quarters for the medical officer and
the staff non-commissioned officers.

The open space between the cottages and this line
of houses was the parade-ground. Mr. Shepstone’s
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house and office were situated on the eastem slope of
the bluff just below the star fort and above the thick
low brushwood which I have already alluded to, and
now mention particularly, because I shall have again
to speak of it either in this chapter or the next. To the
north-east of the station were the Fingo kraals, and
beyond these, stretching from the sea along the Keis-
kama away to the west, towards the Kat river, the
country was dotted over with the kraals of the tribes of
Pato and Umkai. To the west and north-west of the
station was a long strip of open undulating table-land,
bhare of trees and brushwood, and bordered on the
south by deep-wooded kloofs and by the edge of the
impenetrable Fish river bush; and on the north by
the more open forest ground which fringed the
southern bank of the Keiskama. Along this open
ground ran the road or track to the nearest drift
(ford) over the Keiskama into Kaffir land proper.

My professional duties at Fort Peddie were not
onerous, as far as the troops were concerned, so that
I had ample time to make the acquaintance and
friendship of Mr. Shepstone and family, and of the
other members of the civil community, to explore the
surrounding country, collect specimens in ornitho-
logy, visit the Kaffir chiefs in their kraals, and learn
something of the manners, customs, and mode of life
of these savage people, amongst whom ere long I
was heartily welcomed, for more than once I per-
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formed surgical operations amongst them which had
proved beyond the power, skill, and incantations of
their own doctors.

These operations were always performed in the
open air in the presence of the chief and his coun-
cillors,* who, wrapped in their karosses or blankets,
sat on the ground around me, and only broke silence
when I had completed the operation by exclaiming,
‘Wah wah! How can 4e do such things, he’s but a
child I

The Kaffirst are physically a fine race, well-formed
about the chest and limbs, which latter are very mus-
cular, and they have small hands and feet. They
have the woolly hair of the negro, but a better
cranial development, better eyes and features, thinner
lips, and a much less prominent facial angle. They
are not, as a rule, black, but dark copper-coloured,
some very dark, and others of lighter shades. Like
all dark races, they have good teeth, but I saw many of
them who suffered from decayed teeth, especially the
molars, and some few who were bald, this latter an
unusual defect amongst savage or other tribes who
wear no covering on the head. Albinos are occa-
sionally seen amongst them, and I saw a very re-

* Amapakati.
t I do not enter into the history of the Kaffir race generally,
but write only my own recollections of them, and of their doings
while I was at the Cape. '
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markable one—a chief’s son. He was quite white,
with the pink eyes, but endeavoured to conceal his
colour under a thick coating of red clay and dirt.

The women were often very good-looking, even
pretty in youth, but after marriage they soon lose
their good looks and comeliness, owing chiefly to the
effects of hard labour, for, after passing into the pos-
session of a husband, they are treated almost as beasts
of burden.

I remember one woman, the principal, orfambookie,
wife of the chief Umkai, who, even in middle-age,
retained her good looks and comeliness of person.
She was {all and slight, very dark-coloured, but with
handsome, aquiline features, on which were stamped
a gentle and intellectual expression. Her bearing,
gestures, voice, and manner all bore evidence of
refinement, and I often heard Mr. Shepstone speak of
her as the noblest Kaffir woman he had ever seen.

The Kaffir language is soft and beautiful, but has
three extraordinary clicks which may be considered
as letters. They are always introduced in the middle
of words, and, so far from interfering with the soft-
ness and beauty of the language, rather improve it.
At the time of which I write, the Kaffirs had not sub-
mitted to any of the rules or practices of civilisation.
The men went about in puris naturalibus,* with a

* The description of the Kaffirs, and of their manners, customs,
etc., applies equally to the Fingoes.
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kaross or blanket thrown round the shoulders and
falling gracefully to the knees, and were never seen
beyond their kraals without a bundle of assegais and
a knob-keerie in the hand. The womerr wore a
leather fichu, ornamented with beads, drawn tight
over the chest, and a leather petticoat hanging from
the waist to midway between the knee and ankle.
Some other portions of both male and female dress

" and ornament I do not attempt to describe. They
have several rites and customs which might lead one
to suppose that they have some affinity to the Arab,
or at least are descended from a race more enlight-
ened than themselves. I allude to the rites of cir-
cumcision and marriage. At the age of fourteen or
fifteen lads undergo the operation, are then painted
white, and driven from the kraal into the bush, there
to subsist as best they can until recovered. They
then return to the kraal, where a great feast and war-
dance are held in which they take a chief part, and
after this are considered men and warriors.

1 have often met these white boys in the bush, and
always in a state of emaciation from starvation.

The marriage ceremony is an imposing affair, and
is conducted as follows: The man having agreed
as to the price of the woman (always paid in cattle),
the tribe, or that portion of it occupying the kraal to
which the man belongs, are assembled by the chief,
or by the headman of the kraal, into whose presence
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the bridegroom is conducted by a number of his
companions, all covered over with red clay, and
walking slowly and silently in single file (the slow
step and silence intended to impress upon the man
the serious step he is about to take, and the respon-
sibility to assume), until, having approached near to
the chief, they range themselves in a line before him,
and stand with head bent down and in silence. Then
from the opposite side of the kraal comes the bride,
surrounded by her maidens, all painted with red clay
and dressed in scanty costume, who press close round
her as they move along, so as to conceal her from
public gaze, until she too stands in the presence
of the chief, and beside her future lord and master.
As they stand thus, the chief gives them both advice
as to their future relative positions, duties, etc., and
at the conclusion of his address hands the bride an
assegai, which she takes in her right hand, and,
walking up to the cattle kraal of the bridegroom,
hurls it into it with all her strength. Having done
this, the marriage is complete, and the man takes
possession of his wife—his slave, a hewer of wood,
a bringer of water, a tiller of the soil, a beast of
burden, even while she is the mother of his children.
I have witnessed several of these marriage cere-
monies, and have also been present at courts of
justice or appeal, and was much surprised at the
érder and solemnity of the proceedings, both amongst
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Kaffirs and Fingoes. With the former the chief
presided, and with the latter Mr. Shepstone, in virtue
of his position as chief,

These courts are held in the open air. The chief
sits down on the ground, with his councillors grouped
round or behind him (chief and councillors generally
robed in leopard-skin karosses, the dress of royalty,
power, and authority). The audience sit also, and,
with the chief and his party, form a circle, within
which are plaintiff and defendant, with their counsel
and witnesses.

At a sign from the chief, the counsel for the
plaintiff, standing up, states his case ; then the coun-
sel for the defendant replies, and then follows ex-
amination of the witnesses, and finally judgment is
pronounced by the chief, with or without the advice
of his councillors.

The whole proceedings, as I stood outside the
circle, and observed and listened, appeared to me
. to be conducted with formality and solemnity. Coun-
sel in both cases spoke with dignity aud eloquence,
and the judge listened attentively. In the case of
the Fingoes, the same ceremonial was followed, ex-
cept that Mr. Shepstone, as chief and judge, remained
standing during the whole proceedings.

The Kaffirs have, or rather at that time had, no
religious belief. If any impression has been made
upon them during the last forty years, I do not
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know. They practise, and have, or pretend to have,
faith in witchcraft, more especially when there is
some practical end to be gained by it, as, for in-
stance: if a man has become rich in cattle, and
therefore too powerful, he is often accused of prac-
tising witcheraft, the accusation instigated or con-
nived at by the chief. He is tried, and condemned,
as a matter of course, and his property confiscated ;
half of it going to the chief, and the other half
shared amongst his accusers. '

They have amongst them ¢Rain doctors, clever,
unscrupulous rascals, who are generally, if not always,
the mediums through whom persons are accused of
and prosecuted for practising witchcraft.

Having made the acquaintance of the chiefs Pato
and Umkai, and visited their kraals, they paid me
return visits; but came so often, and always asked
boldly for brandy or tobacco, if I failed to offer
them, that at last I got weary of them, and tried
to discourage their visits, partly because of their
importunate demands, and partly because I was un-
able to converse with them, except through an
interpreter, who was not always to be found. Pato
was rather under the ordinary height, very black,
and, though his features were good, the expression
of his face was that of a cunning, ferocious savage
—as he was. Umkai, on the other hand, was tall
and portly, very light-coloured, and had a pleasant,
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honest face. Each generally came to see me with
several male attendants, and two or three wives;
and all these squatted in ones room for half-an-
hour did not improve the condition of the atmo-
sphere, and necessitated a free circulation of air
through the room for some time after they had
taken their leave.

Kraals, consisting of groups of huts clustered close
together, and of one or more enclosures for cattle,
were always to be found situated in a sheltered
valley, or on the side of a hill sloping down into
a valley, in the neighbourhood of water, and sur-
rounded by patches of cultivated land. The huts
were constructed of wattles planted firmly in the
ground in the form of a circle, bent over at the
top, and tied together. On this frame-work was
laid a thick layer of thatch, bound down firmly by
grass-ropes. The only aperture was a very low
doorway, at which one had to enter on hands and
knees. There were no means of ingress for light
and air, or of egress for smoke, etc., except this
low doorway ; so that, between darkness, exhalations
from the lungs and bodies of half-a-dozen or more
unwashed inmates, and the pungent wood smoke,
it was impossible for anybody but a Kaffir to remain
many minutes inside one of these huts. I made
the attempt once, but had quickly to crawl out
again into the fresh, open air.
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But Kaffirs seldom or never invite a European or
any stranger to enter their huts; indeed, they them-
selves, their wives, and children, spend their lives in
the open air, only seeking the shelter of the hut at
night, or in cold or wet weather. The huts are
always circular. The cattle enclosures are also cir-
cular, and protected by a thick belt of thorns. In-
deed, a Kaffir in those days had no idea of any
geometrical figure other than the circle. Their wealth
consists in flocks and herds, to tend which and to
make war are the only occupations of the men, while
the women perform outdoor labour and all domestic
drudgery.

Under ordinary circumstances, forty years ago, the
food of the Kaffirs consisted of Indian corn, millet-
seed, pumpkins, and milk. They seldom killed their
cattle for food, but, when they could get flesh, ate it
voraciously and half-raw, and did not leave a morsel
of the animal, not even of the intestines. They did
not drink fresh milk, but converted it into curd, of
which they consumed immense quantities.

They are inveterate lovers of tobacco, and all,
both men and women, smoke and take snuff. To
make the latter pungent they mix it with the pow-
dered root of the aloe, and this mixture does cer-
tainly touch up the olfactory nerves. So great was
their love for tobacco that, wherever and whenever

VOL. I. F
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you met a Kaffir man, woman, boy, or girl, the first
word was tobacco.
I could write a volume on the Kaffirs, their cus-

toms, manners, etc., but have said enough on the
subject.
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CHAPTER V.

Cape Corps Relieved by 7th Dragoon Guards—Explore the sur-
rounding Country with Wright—His Knowledge of Locality
and Distance—Long Ride to Fish River Mouth—The Fish
River and Bush—Absence of Game—Kaffir Hunt—The Tame
Crane—Hy®na and Jackal—Poff Adder—Dr. Smith's Ad-
venture—Kloofs—An Unpleasant Discovery—Shepstone's
Life Threatened—WTight’s Generous Act—Night Alarm—
Murder—Shepstone Appointed to Natal—His Departure-—-
Murder of Missionary—Sandilli and Macomo—Menacing
Attitude of Kaffirs.

SHORTLY after I had got settled at Peddie, Captain
Cannon and his company of the Cape Corps were
replaced by Lieutenants Gray and Arkwright with a
troop of the 7th Dragoon Guards. From that time
and for several months after our lives passed very
quietly, and to some extent monotonously. For my
own part, my military professional duties occupied
only a portion of my time ; but, in the restlessness of
youth, I lived in the open air, and, with gun on
shoulder, wandered for miles in every direction
around the station, in the full enjoyment of life and
health—the most intense of all pleasures. The climate
F2
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was delightful, far beyond any that I had hitherto
experienced, and all objects animate and inanimate
(beasts, birds, reptiles, insects, trees, shrubs, and
plants) around me, and amongst which I moved,
were new, and afforded me opportunity for obser-
vation and study.

I was constantly in the saddle, too, often as
Wright’s companion, while he explored the country,
noting its physical peculiarities, finding out where
every path led to, observing the relative positions of
heights and valleys to each other, and the distances
between them. Wright had a wonderful eye for the
physical aspect of a country, and such an extraordi-
nary perception of locality, direction, and distance
that in all our rides and excursions I never knew him
to fail in finding his way, even in the dark.

On one occasion we rode down to the mouth of the
Fish river, a distance of from twenty-five to thirty
miles, partly to examine the country, but chiefly to
get a look at the sea. There was neither road nor
track for us to follow, we had to find our way, riding
round little hills, up ravines, down through wooded
kloofs, round the edges of others, and over interven-
ing undulating plains covered with long dry grass.
This was eagy enough in daylight, but we delayed so
long by the sea that the sun had set before we started
to return, and darkness had settled down upon us
before we had covered one third, and that the easiest
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third, of the distance; but Wright never hesitated,
and, as we rode along, he explained to me that on the
way down he had noted every hill or rising ground,
every hollow, kloof, and ravine, and their relative
positions and distances, and therefore knew perfectly
where he was and what direction he should take.
What surprised me was that, while he was taking
note of all these things, we were conversing on a
variety of totally different subjects. Had I been
alone, I never should have found the way.

In our many rides, we explored the country along
the northern bank of the Fish river for miles east and
west of the station, wherever it was practicable to do
80, and also that along the Beka a small river, and
along the southern bank of the Keiskama. The first
we found generally clothed with dense bush, im-
penetrable to all human beings except Kaffirs, opened
up, however, every here and there by deep wooded
kloofs, with perhaps only one narrow footpath wind-
ing through them to the river; while the banks of
the Beka and Keiskama were comparatively flat, and
fringed by open forest growth. In this part of its
course the great Fish river flows through a deep,
muddy channel, and hence its waters are thick and
turbid ; while the waters of the Beka and Keiskama,
flowing through rocky beds and over pebbly bottoms,
are clear as crystal. _

We found little or no game in the neighbourhood.
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The Kaffirs had destroyed or driven away all large
animals, and only a few of the smaller varieties
of antelope remained, and these were shy and difficult
to find. Red-legged partridge and a species of pheas-
ant might be found in the deep-wooded kloofs, but a
couple of brace of these did not repay one for the
labour and fatigue of pushing one’s way through
thorns and tangled undergrowth under a high
temperature.

Once the Kaffirs organized a hunt or beat for us,
during which several of the small antelope (bok, as
all the smaller species are called by the Dutch) broke
covert, and ran the gauntlet from one end of the line
of beaters to the other. But really there was more
danger than pleasure in the day’s proceedings, for, as
the antelope bounded along, ¢ knob-kerries’ flew from
all sides, as the Kaffirs in their excitement hurled
these missiles after it without taking much heed
whether or not any person was in the line of fire.
Several times during the day I saw Kaffirs, in their
eagerness to get a shot at an animal which had broken
covert from the other side of a mimosa thicket, dash
head foremost through the bush, going in black and
coming out, after pushing their way through, with
the cuticle so scratched and ruffled as to appear
almost white.

Once we succeeded in shooting a couple of the large
grey bustard (pau). It was quite a chance, for we
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came upon the birds feeding, as we emerged from a
narrow belt of jungle. These are very watchful
birds, and a good deal of cunning and dexterity on
the part of the sportsman are required to enable him
to approach near enough to shoot them. They
usually feed in the long grass out on the open plain,
so that, while they can see, they are not easily seen.

In the neighbouring kloofs several varieties of
hawk with handsome plumage were to be found
(specimens of which I procured and preserved), also
several varieties of king-fisher, and of pigeon and
dove. Blue cranes also were numerous, and vultures
in hundreds were to be seen.

Soldiers, as a rule, are fond of pets, and the men
of our detachment possessed a tame crane. ¢ Bobbie,’
as he was called, was allowed to be perfectly at
liberty, and often absented himself for hours at a
time during the day, but always returned towards
sunset, and spent the night with the sentry walking
up and down beside him, and retiring to the shelter
of the sentry-box when tired.

On one occasion, after an absence of some hours,
he returned with a broken leg, the fracture evidently
caused by a blow, and not by a gun-shot. I took
him in hand as a patient, applying splints and a ban-
dage, and securing the broken limb. He recovered,
and manifested ever after while he remained with us
a certain amount of gratitude, by attaching himself
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to me and coming constantly to my quarter. Once,
while out riding alone, I was surprised by seeing
Bobbie fly towards me accompanied by another
crane. He settled on the ground near me, while his
companion took up a position on a tree close by.
Shortly after this, however, Bobbie disappeared, and
never returned.

In my wanderings, I repeatedly came upon a hysena
(wolf, as it is called at the Cape), and very often upon
jackals, and when out after sunset I have more than
once been followed for some distance by a hysna;
but I never came in contact at that time with either
poff-adder or cobra, though always on the watch for
them. Mindful of Dr. Smith’s request, I offered a re-
ward for any number of these reptiles that the Kaffirs
or Fingoes would bring me, but without success. I
sent him specimens of other reptiles, however, for
which he wrote, and for which I had his grateful ac-
knowledgments. Dr. Smith’s name was well-known
to several of the old residents, who often spoke of
his enthusiasm in zoological research. From one
gentleman I heard the following anecdote. He (Dr.
Smith) had been missing from Grahamstown for
nearly a fortnight, and after due search was found in
the belly of a whale which had been cast ashore on the
sandy beach near the mouth of the Fish river. He had
heard of it, and in his eagerness started off without
having asked leave, that he might not lose so favour-
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able an opportunity of studying the anatomy of the
great sea mammal.

While at Fort Peddie, part of my duty was to visit
the detachment at Trumpeter’s Drift, once a week at
least, and oftener if necessary. By road, or round by
the Great Pass, the distance was nearly twenty miles,
but there was a short cut which reduced the distance
by one half. This was a favourite ride of mine, the
route I always took when I had to visit Trumpeter’s
Drift by day ; but, if called thither urgently at night,
I took the long route.

This short cut ran through one of those wooded
kloofs which I have described as opening on the
river. It was deep, almost circular, and enclosed
round two-thirds of the circle by very steep, almost
perpendicular cliffs, rent in several places by narrow
openings into smaller kloofs. Into this great kloof,
from the Peddie side, there was only one practicable
entrance, a very abrupt descent of three or four hun-
dred feet, so steep that it wasimpossible to ride either
down or up. Even on foot it was a scramble for
both man and horse. The bottom of this great
basin was perfectly level, overgrown with mimosa,
euphorbia, and other trees, interlaced by creepers
and thorns, amongst the latter the terrible ¢wacht-
em-bitja (acacia detineus), which all Cape writers have
described, and all Cape travellers felt; and inter-
sected by shingly beds of several tortuous streams,
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dry generally, but, after heavy rain, filled by surface-
water collected from the steep surrounding cliffs,
and adjoining lesser kloofs, and poured along these
channels into the Fish river, on the south side,
where the kloof opened upon a wide, level space,
which sloped gradually down to the river at Trum-
peter’s Drift. The distance from Peddie to the
descent was about two miles, across the level bottom
of the kloof about six or seven miles, and from
the southern opening to the river about two miles.

I never took the ride alone, but always attended
by two Cape Corps orderlies, or by two dragoons.
But even with an escort the ride was a solitary
one; for the oppressive stillness and silence in the
dense gloomy bush was never enlivened by either
motion or noise of living creature. There was no
sound of human voice or footstep, no low of kine,
no bay of dog, no song of bird ever heard within
this weird and dismal valley. Only occasionally one
was startled from a reverie by the hoarse, deep
bark of the dog-faced baboon, as their wary sentinel,
perched aloft upon a tree or ledge of rock, gave
warning to the troop, engaged in sport or busy
feeding, of the approach of man.

While riding slowly along the narrow path, shut
in on either side by wild and tangled growth, which
hid all objects from the eye, except a strip of the
blue sky above, or now and then afforded a mo-
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mentary glimpse of some steep cliff or rocky crag
in the far distance, one felt as if he had suddenly
passed from active life above into another world
below where solitude and silence reigned; and yet
I felt a peculiar fascination for the spot.

For five months all things went well with us,
and our lives were passed in comparative comfort
and fancied security, but suddenly we were sur-
prised, and startled into vigilance by the discovery
of a plot to murder Shepstone, who had become
obnoxious to the Gaika chiefs, and especially to
Pato, by his being able to discover their designs
and plottings by means of his own perfect know-
ledge of their character and language, and by the
assistance of the Fingoes.

Shepstone’s house, as I explained, was rather out
of the station, situated below the Star Fort on
the crest of the steep incline which led from the
plain to the plateau above, and close to the dense
undergrowth which covered the face of the incline;
and his office was about two hundred yards from
the house also, on the very edge of the bush. To
this office Shepstone generally went in the evening,
often after dark, to read and write up his corre-
spondence. But one day the Fingo (I forget his
name), who was a sort of factotum with, Shepstone,
hinted that it would be prudent to give up this
practice, and, on being questioned, acknowledged
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that he bad intended this hint as a warning, as he
had discovered that the chief Pato had determined
to free himself from Shepstone’s surveillance, and
had appointed two of his tribe to watch their oppor-
tunity and murder him, either when he was passing
to or from his office, or when he was alone there;
and that he (the factotum) knew that these two
men had for some time concealed themselves every
night in the bush below the office—biding their time.

Shepstone accepted the warning, and gave up
the practice of going to his office in the evening.
But, not very long after this, the Fingo (factotum)
was himself murdered, and at the same time two
Kaffir boys belonging to Pato’s tribe, who were in
Shepstone’s service (domestic servants in fact) sud-
denly disappeared. These two circumstances proved
the truth of the poor faithful Fingo’s information.

All this, of course, cast a ‘gloom over us, made it
necessary for us, on going beyond the immediate
vicinity of the station, to carry fire-arms, and advis-
able to move about alone aslittle as possible after dark.

One night, after he and his family had retired to
bed, Shepstone heard men moving about his house,
and trying the doors. Next morning, he mentioned
this to Wright, who at once insisted upon changing
houses with him ; Shepstone with his family to come
up quietly during the day to Wright’s house, as if
merely to pay a visit, but to remain, while he
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(Wright) should go down, after dark, and occupy
Shepstone’s house.

I think this act of Wright’s was as brave and
generous a one as I ever heard of, and is worthy
of being chronicled.

That very night, after Wright had put out the
light, and retired to bed, he distinctly heard the
-door pressed against, and the latch lifted, and, for
a second or two after, the shuffling of feet and
the whispering of voices. Getting out of bed as
noiselessly as possible, and seizing his gun, he threw
open the window, which was close to the door,
and quickly thrust his body out, with his gun in his
hands ready for action. The night was very dark,
and, the back of the house (where the door was
placed) being under the shadow of the bank above,
it was a second or two before he could distinguish
any object; but he got just a momentary glimpse
of two dark figures disappearing round the corner
of the house, and heard the crackling of twigs and
rustling of leaves as they glided into and through
the bush.

Wright dressed himself immediately, walked up to
the barracks, and returned with a party of his men,
with whom he searched all round the premises, and
through the bush in every direction, but without
seeing or hearing anything more of his nocturnal
visitors.
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Repeatedly after that I offered to share with Wright
whatever danger there might be in the future, and,
on his declining my offer, suggested that he should
have a couple of our men to sleep in the house every
night, but he declined to do that also, remarking
‘that he would not be justified in exposing me, or
anyone, else to a danger which ke was not obliged but
voluntarily exposed kimself to’ There was some-
thing generous in this also. I again urged that, as I
came down to dine with him every evening, I might
a8 well stay all night as run the risk of being asse-
gaied when returning to my own quarter at ten or
eleven o’clock; but in reply to this he proposed that
I should give up messing with him for the time.
This 1 would not consent to, however, thinking it
was better that I should be with him part of the
night than not at all. I always went down with my
gun in my hand (there were no revolvers in those
days), but this would not have been of much use to
me in the dark, for, as 1 had to pass through a
corner of the dense bush, which I did at a run, a
Kaffir could have sent his assegai through me before
I could have seen or heard him.

On the morning following this second attempt to
enter the house, just at break of day, two armed
Kaffirs were seen by a European, who was driving
his wagon into Peddie, to come out of the bush under
the house, and, as if anxious to escape notice, steal
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away into a ravine close by. These were doubtless
the very men who had attempted to enter the house,
and who had remained concealed in the bush in. spite
of Wright’s search.

Wright was never disturbed again, as of course the
Kaffirs discovered that night that Shepstone had
removed from his own house, and soon found out
also that he had gone into a more secure one within
the station. He continued to live in Wright’s house
until he built a new one for himself near Wright's,
not a matter of difficulty or much time on the fron-
tier, where houses, and very comfortable ones, too,
were built of ¢ wattle and daub, and roofed with
thatch. Then, when Shepstone had completed his
new house, and not till then, Wright returned to his
own. .

We were never comfortable at Peddie from this
time, and felt that we were living almost in a state
of siege, and never went beyond the limits of the
station without arms, and never far from our post
except as a party or with an escort.

At last Shepstone, having received another warn-
ing that Pato was still resolved upon his death,
applied to be removed from the Kaffir frontier and
to be sent to Natal.

On receipt of his order of removal, he started
immediately for Grahamstown, he and his family
travelling in his own wagon. They reached their-
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destination in safety, got rid of all property as quickly
as possible, and hastened on to Algoa Bay, whence
they sailed for Natal, and thus got beyond the reach
of the assassin’s assegai. He sold his wagon and
team to a missionary, who, with his family, was going
up country, and on his way would pass through
Peddie, which, however, he never reached ; for when
outspanned on the plateau, about eight or nine miles
from the station, on the third night after leaving
Grahamstown, he and his family were murdered.

I heard shortly afterwards that the two Kaffirs
who had been so long upon the watch followed
Shepstone into Grahamstown with the intention of
killing him on the way ; but he had so arranged his
journey, travelling by day only, and well-armed, as
to give them no opportunity of taking kis life without
risking their own.

In Grahamstown, however, they continued to keep
an eye upon the wagon, not knowing that Shepstone
had sold it, and that he was not to return to Peddie.
When, therefore, they saw the wagon start again
with its new owner and family, the Kaffirs followed,
believing that the occupants were still Shepstone
and his family, and at last found the opportunity that
they had been waiting for so long, and in the lonely
outspan, in the darkness of night, when the mission-
ary, his wife, children, and servants were asleep, they
stealthily approached and murdered the whole party,
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adding these to the already long black list of mur-
ders, committed by Kaffirs within the boundaries of
our South African possessions, which remain un-
punished. Shepstone was relieved of his political
duties at Fort Peddie by Chaplain MacLean, of the
27th Regiment.

At this time, and for months previously, symptoms
of discontent had been manifested by all the Gaika
tribes, and war at some not very distant date was
looked upon by many as inevitable.

Occasional acts of plunder and robbery had been
committed by individual Kaffirs within our boundary,
but not such as to warrant the belief that the chiefs
had any intention of commencing immediate hostili-
ties. Sandilli remained in his kraal in angry and dis-
contented mood, in which he was encouraged by the
other chiefs, by his councillors, and by the young
men of the tribe, who in their restlessness were eager
for war, believing that we were either afraid or un-
prepared to repel aggression. He occasionally visited
Fort Beaufort ; but Macomo, his brother, with a cer-
tain following of men and women, was to be seen
every day in the station at the canteen, and invaria-
bly in a state of drunkenness.

In his early manhood and while he acted as regent,
during the minority of his younger but more high-
born brother Sandilli he (Macomo) had been the
guiding spirit of the tribe in peace, and the insti-

VOL. I. G




82’ A DRUNKEN CHIEF.

gator and leader in the war of 1835. But after that
war, and from the time when Sandilli took the con-
trol and command of the tribe, Macomo, the savage
though astute ruler, and the brave and daring leader,
had become a drunkard, and, though still looked up
to by his brother and the tribe, he had lost the nerve
and energy which he had once possessed, and pre-
ferred a carouse at the Beaufort canteen to any duty
or pleasure.

Such was the condition of affairs on our north-
eastern frontier at the close of the year 1845. While
the Kaffirs in their numerical strength were insolent,
daring, and menacing, openly expressing and show-
ing discontent, we had but a small military force on
the immediate frontier, and submitted with so much
patience and forbearance to acts of robbery and
aggression that we seemed rather to invite than to
impress them with a belief in our power and ability
to resist attack.
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CHAPTER VI.

Recalled to Head-quarters—The Regiment ordered Home—The
Relieving Regiment 45th, ordered to Monte Video—Coles-
berg Detachment—Deaths and Promotions—The great Nim-
rod Gordon Cumming—Visit to Beaufort—The Reserve
Battalion— Boxing after Mess—Scotch Names—The Old
Soldiers—Old and New Commanding Officers—The Drunken
Auld Deevils—History of the 91st Regiment—A County
Regiment—First Service at Cape—Then Numbered 98th
Regiment—Hanover — Peninsula — Waterloo — Removal of
Body of Great Napoleon for St. Helena.

AT the same time that Shepstone was removed from
Peddie, Wright and I with the detachment of our
regiment were recalled to head-quarters at Grahams-
town, as orders had been received from the Horse
Guards to hold the first battalion of the 91st Regi-
ment in readiness to return to England. On the pro-
mulgation of this order the senior assistant-surgeon
(my good old friend Dr. Barclay, dead some years
ago) claimed the right of accompanying the first
battalion to England in virtue of seniority. But the
question having been referred to the general com-
mander, he decided that the fact of seniority was the
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reason why he should continue to hold the independ-
ent charge of a battalion, while the position of the
junior was with the battalion with which there was
a surgeon in charge. According to this decision,
therefore, Barclay remained in charge of the reserve,
and I with the first battalion, and eventually returned
with it to England.

The orders from the Horse Guards were to the
effect that the first battalion of the 91st Regiment
should not leave the frontier until the relieving
regiment arrived. But this regiment (the 45th) had
been sent to Monte Video to assist the authorities
there, and to protect British subjects and property
during an insurrection, so that it was uncertain when
our relief would reach the Cape.

Much happened on the frontier before it did arrive,
and the first battalion of the 91st Regiment was de-
tained for nearly two years longer in consequence
of the Kaffir war of 1846-7.

Assoon as it was decided that my position was to
be with the first battalion, I resumed my regimental
_ duties under the surgeon. These were by no means
onerous, 8o that I had ample time for amusement, and
for association with my brother-officers. Those who
bad lately returned from Colesberg I had not met
before. They were Yarborough, Savage, Bayly, and
Patterson, who soon admitted me to acquaintance,
and the friendships then formed I retain to the present
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day ; but, as must happen in all lives, many of my old
91st brother-officers have passed away. Just at this
time some changes and promotions occurred. By
the death of Major Lamont, under very painful cir-
cumstances, Major Campbell was transferred from the
first to the command of the reserve battalion, and
Captain Yarborough became major. At the same
time my friend Wright was transferred to the reserve
battalion, a great source of regret to me, for I had
become attached to him in spite of his cool treatment
of me at first ; and Christie and Ward of the first and
reserve battalions respectively were allowed to ex-
change. The former was a great sportsman, and
made it one of the conditions of exchange that he
should be granted one year leave of absence for the
purpose of going into the far interior to shoot, his en-
thusiasm for sport, always great, having been much
increased by the return of Gordon Cumming from Ais
first expedition. How well I remember the appear-
ance and manner of the great Nimrod! He was the
lion of the frontier just then, for he had only lately
returned ¢indutus spollits leone, the first which he
had shot—single-handed, and on foot—and, besides,
he had marvellous stories to tell of the pursuit of
game—lions, elephants, rhinoceros, hippopotamus,
etc., etc. He had kept an accurate record of his
travels and experiences, and could occasionally be
persuaded to read extracts from it to his friends.
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The language of the manuscript, however, was most
terse and emphatic, and often (penned in the rhapsody
of the moment perhaps) expressed in words which
did not appear in his journal as subsequently
published.

He was a remarkably handsome, noble-looking
man, and as he walked about Grahamstown in
Highland dress every eye was turned to look at him.

As Wright was leaving, to join the reserve bat-
talioo, he asked me to go with him, and, as I had
not seen Beaufort, or met any of the officers of the
reserve battalion, I went, and enjoyed the ride, if 1 did
not my visit. The officers received me kindly, especi-
ally Major Campbell, whose family T had known
in Scotland, and some members of whom had given
me a special introduction to him. My brother-assist-
ant also was glad to see me, and apparently bore
no ill-feeling towards me on account of the dis-
appointment I had been the means of causing him.

I found the officers of the reserve battalion a
younger and rather a rougher lot than those of
the first battalion—rougher, perhaps, just because
they were younger. At mess there was more con-
versation about sport than I had been accustomed
to; then of horses, and then of feats of strength,
and - finally of boxing, at which the major and
several of the officers considered themselves pro-
ficient, at least so I gathered from their remarks.
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I was, at that time, a thick-set, deep-chested little
fellow, firm on my pins, long-winded, and possessing
great power of endurance; and I could not but
observe that my friends round were taking measure
of my capacity. After dinner, the mess-room was
cleared, single-sticks and gloves produced, and several
of the officers had a round or two with both. I per-
fectly understood what was coming. They wanted
to see what stuff the young doctor was made of,
and possibly meant to play a practical joke at my
expense.

Ere many minutes had passed, I was asked to
have a bout at single-stick—which I declined; or
a round with the gloves—which I also declined.
I could play at single-stick, and I could use my
fists, having been taught both, especially how to
box; but I had no wish either to show off or
be shown off on the occasion. However, a young
fellow cannot stand being chaffed, or sat upon too
long; and as one of my new friends, with the
gloves on, stood squaring at me, while others looked
on smilingly, I could put up with it no longer, so,
quietly taking off my red jacket, and slipping on
a pair of gloves, I stood up to him.

Immediately a ring was formed round us, some
expecting to see the doctor well-punished, while
several—my friend Wright, the major, and Dr. Bar-
clay—encouraged me by offering advice; but I
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knew well what I should do, and what I would
do. My opponent was over six feet, long in the
arm, but not very strong about the hips, or quick
on his feet, and not nearly so strong as I was, though
heavier.

For the first round or two, I led him round the
room, encouraged him to strike at me, which he
did quickly, but rather wildly, giving me a chance
every now and then of flipping him in the face
with my left hand. I saw this irritated him, and
that, if I persisted in it, he would soon lose his
temper, and be at my mercy. At last he did com-
pletely lose his temper, and his head, rushed blindly
in on me, broke down my guard, and struck me
hard on the side of the head; but he got the whole
force and weight of my right hand, straight from
the shoulder, right between the eyes, and another
from the left hand on the chest, and he went down
like a nine-pin, the ¢claret’ dropping fast from his
nose. My friend had enough, and all the others
seemed to understand that I was not a safe subject
for a practical joke.

In those days practical jokes were very common,
and, if a young fellow endured them meekly, he
had to submit to them frequently, while he who
resented the first, was seldom troubled again. I
never met with anything of the kind in the first
battalion of the 91st Regiment.
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That was my first and last visit to the reserve
battalion.

If my appointment to the Argyllshire Regiment
had given me pleasure at first, that pleasure was
enhanced by the kind and friendly reception given
me by my brother-officers who were present when
I joined, and by those of the Colesberg and other
detachments whom I found at head-quarters on my
return from Peddie to Grahamstown; and also by
the fact that, when I came to inquire into the con-
stitution of the regiment, I found it composed chiefly
of Scotchmen.

Scotch and Highland names were well represented,
both amongst officers and men. Amongst the for-
mer were Lindsay, Lamont, Campbell, Forbes, Dal-
rymple, Christie, Cochrane, Bethune, Hadaway, Bar-
clay, Gordon, Macinroy, Stein—a goodly list. In-
deed, the first battalion might be taken as a fair
example of a national corps. There were good
English names too amongst the officers, as Yar-
borough, Hackett, Bayly, Ward, Savage, and Pat-
terson.

In the ranks there were a few Gaelic-speaking
Highlanders with Highland names, a sprinkling of
Irishmen, and a very small number of Englishmen,
but the great majority were Lowland Scotch. The
men of the first battalion were old soldiers, tall (the
average height of the battalion being five feet eight
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inches), well-set-up, powerful fellows, with great
power of endurance, although with great capacity
for strong drink, which tendency, owing to their
nationality, was probably, nay, certainly, natural to
them, but had grown into inveterate habit from
several years of monotonous service in St. Helena,
from whence the regiment had been ordered on to
the Cape.

I have often heard them acknowledge and even
deplore this failing, but they appeared to attribute it
to a peculiar cause which was as follows: While at
St. Helena, and for years before, a Colonel Anderson
had commanded the regiment. He was a good man,
a strict disciplinarian, and intensely interested in and
proud of the regiment, and watched over both officers
and men with parental care. Naturally the men were
much attached to such a commanding officer, and
were greatly disappointed and grieved when he found
it necessary to retire, which occurred just before the
regiment came to the Cape. He was succeeded by
a Colonel McNeill, who never joined, however, but
exchanged with Colonel Lindsay of the 78th Regi-
ment, who was in command at the period of which I
write. But soldiers of the old &school, as we speak
of them now, preferred, and I presume those of the
present also prefer, to be commanded by an officer
who had risen to the command in the regiment, who
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had been always one of themselves, a part of the
cerps, in fact.

The men of the 91st accordmgly felt a sort of
resentment towards Colonel Lindsay because he was
not one of themselves, because he had not risen in
the regiment, but had come from another corps to
be their colonel, and therefore, according to their
ideas, could not have any great affection for the 91st,
but was always thinking and speaking of his own
old regiment, and drawing comparisons between
the past and present. It was quite true that he
often spoke of the 78th in terms of approbation (I
had often heard him), still I think it probable that
the men did Colonel Lindsay injustice in supposing
that he felt no interest in the 91st. Such were their
feelings towards him, however, and I often heard
them grumbling' as they went to morning parade,
with their heads probably aching after too much
Cape smoke the night before, in the following words :
¢ When Cornel Anderson commanded us, we had
somebody to tak care o’ us, an’ we were men, but
noo there’s naebody tae mind us, an’ we're jist a set
o’ drunken auld deevils.’

They certainly were a hard-drinking set, and
drank with unfailing regularity, not by fits and
starts; but I hardly think they could be fairly con-
sidered what they thought themselves, ¢drunken



92 HISTORY OF THE 91ST REGIMENT.

auld deevils,” for not often was one of them confined
for being drunk and disorderly. They not only took
their liquor freely, but carried it well, and, if they did
feel the worse of it in the evening, went quietly to
bed—a characteristic of the Scot—instead of making
a row and being put in the guard-room, which is
characteristic of the Irishman.

There is much that is interesting in the history of
the 91s}, and, as the records of the regiment have

. been lent to me by an old officer of the corps,
Lieutenant-Colonel Charles Hollway, I propose to
devote this chapter and the next to a short summary
of these records.

About the year 1759, county militia regiments were
raised in England for home defence during the ab-
sence of the regular army. These militia corps were
raised by ballot. It was not at the time considered
safe to extend the same system to Scotland, and
therefore a number of regiments called ¢ Fencibles’
were raised in that part of the kingdom, differing
from the militia in that the ¢Fencibles’ were raised
by the ordinary mode of recruiting, and officered, like
the Line, by gentlemen holding commissions signed
by the king.

There were five regiments of Argyll Fencibles at
different times : the first raised by his Grace the Duke
of Argyll in 1759, and disbanded in 1763 ; the second
raised in 1778, and disbanded in 1783; the third
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raised in 1793, and disbanded in 1799; the jourth
raigsed in 1794, and disbanded in 1302 ; the jiftk raised
in 1796, and disbanded in 1802.

In 1794 an Argyllshire Regiment of the Line was
raised by desire of His Majesty George IIL by the
Duke of Argyll and several other Scotch noblemen
and gentlemen, and was numbered 98th, but four years
after its embodiment the number was changed to 91st,
which it retained until within the last few years,
when, in cbnsequence of the territorial distribution
of the Army, all numbers were abolished. In the
following remarks, therefore, 1 shall always speak of
the regiment as the 91st.

The first Lieutenant-Colonel Commandant was
Duncan Campbell of Lochnell, an Argyllshire man.
He assumed the command of the battalion in April,
1794, and at that time the regiment might have been
considered a purely county corps, for more than half
the officers were Argyllshire Campbells.

My friend Patterson (now General), whom I have
the pleasure of meeting often, has reminded me of a
snuff-box which was put on the table every day after
dinner, on which were engraved the names of the
officers in the regiment in the year 1810, of whom
thirteen were Campbells. He also tells me that, when
‘he joined in 1839, there was a squad always drilled
in Gaelic, and also that it was only after the forma-
tion of the reserve battalion that recruiting for
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the regiment took place elsewhere than in Scotland.

The uniform of the newly-raised corps was the
‘full Highland dress.” Red coat, with yellow facings
(I presume the coat was red, but the records do not
say 80), kilt and plaid of green tartan, with black
stripes, which corresponds with either the tartan now
worn by the regiment and by the old 93rd, for the
two regiments are first and second battalions of the
¢ Princess Louise Argyll and Sutherland Highlanders,’
and wear the 93rd tartan, or with that worn by the
Black Watch, or old 42nd Regiment, which is (I be-
lieve) the undress tartan of the Munro clan. I have
never heard it explained why the 42nd Regiment
wore and still wear this tartan; but, as the Black
Watch was embodied as a regiment by Sir Hector
Munro, he may have been allowed to select his own
tartan.

In February, 1794, authority to raise the 91st Regi-
ment was issued, and the establishment was fixed at
one thousand one hundred and twelve officers and
men, including two lieutenant-colonels. In April of
the same year the regiment was assembled at Stirling,
and in the following May the first inspection of the
whole battalion was made by General Lord Adam
Gordon, who complimented it on its soldier-like ap-
pearance. Either, therefore, the men who filled the
ranks of the new regiment were old soldiers, or at
least had previously undergone some training, or
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they were very apt pupils, for they formed the ex-
ample of a regiment which had been scarcely four
months under military discipline and training, and
yet was considered by a general officer worthy of
being complimented on their military bearing and
appearance.

On the 5th of May, 1795, the 91st and several
other regiments, in all amounting to three thousand
men, under the command of Major-General Almured
Clarke, sailed from Spithead to join an expeditionary
force which had already been dispatched to take pos-
session of the Cape colony, at that time belonging to
the Dutch.

The advance guard of this expedition, under Major-
General Craig, which had sailed some months previ-
ously in a fleet commanded by Admiral Elphinstone,
arrived in Simon’s Bay in June, 1795, and immediate-
ly on arrival the admiral and general conjointly for-
warded a dispatch to the Dutch governor of Cape-
town, enclosing with it a mandate from the Stadt-
holder of the Netherlands commanding him to admit
the troops of His Britannic Majesty, and hand over the
defences of Capetown and of the colony to them; to
admit British ships of war into the ports, and to con-
sider such troops and ships of war as the forces of a
friendly power, whose object it was to protect the
colony against the French,

To both dispatch and mandate the governor re-
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turned a polite but evasive reply, equivalent to a
refusal to place the colony under British protection,
except in the event of invasion by a hostile power.

Having failed to induce the governor to yield,
Admiral Elphinstone determined to compel him, as in
the event of the Cape falling into the hands of the
French our trade with India might be seriously
interfered with, if not ruined.

The means of resistance at the disposal of the
Dutch governor consisted of a small force of trained
soldiers (some one thousand two hundred Germans
and Hottentots), but he had also the burghers, or
civil population to fall back on, whom he had the
right of calling out in case of emergency; and to his
summons on this occasion about one thousand six
hundred of these burghers quickly assembled. These,
with the regular soldiers and some armed slaves,
placed about three thousand men at his disposal for
defence, and with the greater part of this force he
ordered Colonel de Lille to occupy the pass of
Muysenberg between Simon’s Town and Capetown.

In July, Admiral Elphinstone, who appears to have
held the supreme authority, landed four hundred and
fifty men of the 78th Highlanders and three hundred
and fifty Marines, under the command of General
Craig, and occupied Simon’s Town, preparatory to
an advance as soon as the reinforcements, under Sir
Almured Clarke, should arrive. But, after waiting for
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these more than three weeks in vain, General Craig
decided upon attacking the enemy, for which purpose
his force was increased by the addition of eight hun-
dred sailors, landed from the ships, and formed into
two battalions, under the immediate command of
naval officers. With this small and mixed force,
supported by the fleet, which kept along shore, the
general attacked the Dutch, drove them from their
formidable position, ‘and occupied the pass. Such
was the battle of Muysenberg.

In September, Sir Almured Clarke arrived with the
reinforcements, amounting to three thousand men,
amongst whom was the 91st Highlanders, a regiment
which had been embodied and rendered fit for active
service in little more than a period of eighteen
months.

With his army now increased to five thousand men,
General Craig advanced and attacked the enemy in
their entrenched camp at Wynberg, near Capetown.
On this occasion the battalion companies of the 91st
Regiment, under Colonel Campbell, formed the centre
of the British line, while the Grenadier and light
companies were attached to the Grenadier and light
battalions under Colonel Ferguson and Major King
respectively. The engagement was short, and the
enemy, driven from their position, retired on Cape-
town, when hostilities ceased and terms of surrender
were arranged.
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The loss of the Y1st Regiment in this their first
engagement was four men killed. No mention is
made of any having been wounded.

Two days after the battle, the 91st Regiment
marched into Capetown and took possession of the
castle and other defensive works; and thus ended for
a time the rule of the Netherlands East India Com-
pany in South Africa, which became a British
dependency.

In 1795, the uniform of the regiment was changed :
the Highland dress was done away with, and that
worn by Highland regiments serving in India, viz.,
a jacket, trowsers, and round hat, ordered to be
taken into wear; but it was still considered a High-
land corps, and recruited from Scotland.

In 1796, the Dutch, under a promise of assistance
from France, resolved to make an effort to recover the
Cape, and for this purpose dispatched a considerable
fleet and a force of two thousand German mercenaries,
to be increased by considerable French contingents
from the Mauritius and Java. This Dutch fleet put
into Saldanha Bay (to the north of Table Bay),
for the purpose of procuring supplies, and arming the
colonists, and also to await the arrival of the French
fleet. But General Craig, who had been appointed
governor of the new possessions, took immediate
action ; marched with a large portion of his gar-
rison, increased by the timely arrival of regiments
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from India, towards Saldanha Bay, and had a slight
brush with the enemy, capturing their reconnoiter-
ing parties; and as the English fleet hove in sight
at this moment, and took up a position across the
entrance to the bay, the Dutch admiral perceived
that escape by sea was impossible, and resistance
by land impracticable, and therefore surrendered
unconditionally.

The Grenadier and Light companies only of the
91st accompanied General Craig’s force on the occa-
sion, while the main body of the battalion remained
behind as part of the garrison of Capetown.

In 1799, a portion of the garrison of Capetown
attempted to organize a mutiny, their intention being
to shoot the principal officers, and take possession
of the colony for themselves. On the occasion the
91st not only refused to take part in the plot, but
several of the privates who had been requested to
enter into the conspiracy seized the papers contain-
ing a list of the conspirators, with a detail of their
plans, and gave them up to the authorities; thus
showing the loyalty and faithfulness of the young
regiment in circumstances more trying perhaps than
those in which it had already exhibited steadiness
and courage. Lieutenant-Colonel Crawford was in
command at the time.

In 1802, by the treaty of Amiens, England was
required, and agreed, to restore the colony to the
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Dutch, and accordingly, in February, 1803, the
British garrison was withdrawn, a wing of the 91st
having been detailed to remain to the last to hand
over the castle and defences. Having performed
this duty, the army returned to England, and, in
May, 1803, the whole battalion was stationed at
Bexhill, in Sussex.

Thus ended the first occupation of the Cape by
the British, and I have written the particulars as
it was the first active service on which the 9lst
was employed, and because, in the further history
of the colony, we shall find frequent allusion to the
regiment.

In 1804, a second battalion was formed, which, in
1813, was sent to Germany, and was present at the
attack on Bergen-op-Zoom, on which occasion a
number of officers, non-commissioned officers, and
privates were killed, wounded, and taken prisoners.
But, as no records of this battalion were kept, or at
least preserved, nothing further is known of it, not
even whether it was disbanded or absorbed.

In 1805, the 91st was despatched to Hanover, but
returned almost immediately to England, as the
British Army was recalled in 1806; and for the
next two years the regiment served in Ireland.
Again, in 1808, the 91st was required for active
service, and sailed from Monkstown (Ireland)
as part of the expedition sent out to Portugal
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under Lieutenant-General Sir Arthur Wellesley. It
was brigaded with the 40th and 71st Regiments,
under Brigadier-General Crawford.

On the 8th of July, 1808, the fleet of transports
arrived in Mondego Bay, on the coast of Portu-
gal. The troops landed on the 3rd of August, and
encampedat Lavos. On the 7th of the same month,
the force moved south, continued to advance in the
same direction, and, on the 17th, attacked and drove
in the enemy’s posts at Abidos, in which affair the
flank companies only of the 91st Regiment were
engaged.

On the 21st of August, the regiment was present
at the battle of Vimiera, as part of the reserve which,
under General C. Crawford, turned the enemy’s
right, a movement which was specially noticed in
the official despatch of the battle. In October of.
the same year, the regiment advanced into Spain,
with the army under Sir John Moore, and served
in the reserve, both in the advance and subsequent
retreat, and was present at the battle of Corunna,
after which the battalion returned to England; but
the sick officers, non-commissioned officers, and priv-
ates who had been left behind in Portugal were
formed into a company, and attached to a battalion
of detachments, which was present at the capture
of Oporto, and in the subsequent pursuit of the
French into Spain. This company was also at
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Talavera, in which hard-fought battle, out of a
strength of ninety-three officers and men, sixty-one
were killed, wounded, and missing. At the same
time, the head-quarters of the battalion took part
in the unfortunate Walcheren expedition.

In 1812, the regiment again embarked for Spain,
to join the army under the Duke of Wellington,
and on arrival was attached to the sixth division of
the army ; and, with the 42nd and 97th Regiments,
formed, under General Pack, what, I presume, was
the 1st Highland Brigade.

In June, 1813, it was present, though in the
reserve, at the battle of Vittoria ; afterwards at the

investment and siege of Pampluna, and at the storm-

ing of the village of Sorauren, near Pampluna, when
its loss in killed and wounded was considerable;
was present also throughout the operations in the
passes of the Pyrenees; at the battle of Neville;
passage of the Neve; battle of Orthes, and the
subsequent attack on the enemy at Aire, on the
Adour.

At the battle of Toulouse, the Highland Brigade,
and especially the 91st Regiment, played a conspicu-
ous part. It was a desperate engagement, but the
Highlanders assaulted and carried at the point of the
bayonet all the enemy’s fortified redoubts and en-
trenchments under the very walls of the city, though
with heavy loss, that of the 91st Regiment alone
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being seven officers and one hundred and twelve
rank and file killed and wounded.

In July of the same year, 1814, the regiment re-
turned to England, and was immediately sent to
Ireland, where it remained until April, 1815. From
Ireland it sailed for Ostend, to join the army assem-
bling in the neighbourhood of Brussels, under the
Duke of Wellington, to oppose the Emperor Napoleon.
On June 18th, the memorable battle of Waterloo was
fought. Early in the morning of this day, the divi-
sion to which the 91st belonged (the fourth, under
Sir C. Colville), together with a division of Dutch
troops, was detailed to cover the road to Brussels,
which was threatened by a French column, and thus
did not take any active part in the great battle. The
regiments of this division, therefore, were not granted
the privilege of wearing Waterloo upon their colours,
although the officers and men received the medal and
the grant of money which was voted by Parliament
to all who had been on the battle-field and sub-
sequently at the capture of Paris.

On the 19th of June, the fourth division joined in
the pursuit of the routed and flying French army, and
on the 24th of the month formed part of the assault-
ing Column which carried the strongly fortified town
of Cambray, on which occasion the loss of the 91st
was two lieutenants and seven privates wounded.

On the 4th of July, a suspension of arms was

vol. 4. h



104 AT ST. HELENA AND THE CAPE.

agreed to under the walls of Paris, and on that occa-
sion the first man of the allied armies to enter the
French capital was Private William Ballantine of the
91st, he having been one of the escort sent in with a
flag of truce. This veteran died in Ireland on the
17th of January, 1879.

The 91st remained in France from the date of
the capitulation of Paris until November, 1818, when
it returned to England, landing at Dover, but was
immediately ordered to Ireland, where it remained
until November, 1821, when it was again ordered to
Scotland to embark for service in Jamaica, where it
arrived by divisions in February and March of the
same year.

There is nothing interesting in connection with the
service of the 91st in the West Indies; but, on the
contrary, only a mournful record of disease and death,
for,in the nine years of its service in the western
tropics, twenty officers, thirty sergeants, ten drum-
mers, and five hundred and seventy-six privates (in
all six hundred and thirty-six) died of disease.

In 1831 the regiment returned to England, and
in 1835 was ordered to St. Helena, where it arrived
in February, 1836. In 1839, the head-quarters and
three companies of the regiment were ordered on
to the Cape, while the other three remained in St.
Helena until 1842, when they also were ordered to
the Cape, this being the second time that the 91lst
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served in South Africa. In 1840 these three com-
panies were present at the disentombment of the
body of the Emperor Napoleon, had the honour of
lining the road from Longwood, along which the
funeral procession moved, and of furnishing the guard
of honour at the place of embarkation as the sarco-
phagus containing the body was transferred to the
French officers in attendance to receive it.

Captain Ward, of the 91st, had been in St. Helena
with the 67th Regiment in 1821, at the time of the
emperor’s death, and had been admitted to see the
body as it lay in state, when he took a pencil sketch
of the face of the great soldier. Strange to say, he
was again in the island, with the 91st, when in 1840
the body was exhumed, and had an opportunity of
comparing the sketch taken twenty years previously
with the face as it then appeared. Ward found his
sketch still a perfect likeness, for the face and fea-
tures of the great dead were not even touched by
decay, and appeared as if in the repose of sleep. The
original sketch I saw several times, and I also saw a
copy of it in one of our illustrated papers some years
ago.

One relic of the great Napoleon was in the posses-
sion of the 91st for many years, viz., a large crystal
lamp, which was generally suspended in the officers’
mess-room. I believe, however, that this relic no
longer exists.
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In March, 1875, the following letter was addressed
to Major Battiscombe from the Director of the Mint
‘in Paris:

‘I hasten to inform you that the Director of the
‘Mint is happy to place at your disposal a specimen, in
bronze, of the medal which he desires to be offered in
‘his name to the officers of the 91st Regiment, in re-
membrance of the memorable event which it com-
memorates and in which the regiment took a part. I
have the honour, therefore, to inform you that I have
given the necessary instructions to bhave the medal
placed at your disposal at the office of the Mint.’

This medal was to commemorate the removal of
the body of Napoleon from St. Helena to France, and
bears on one side in relief a head, with the words
“Ludov, Philippus, 1. Francorum Rex,’ and on the
obverse side is represented the dome of the Invalides
-and classical figures of France receiving the cortége,
and the words, ¢ Reliquis Receptis Napoleonis, funus
Triumphale, xv. Dec. MDCCOXL.’
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CHAPTER VIL

A Reserve Battalion Formed—Ordered to the Cape in 1842—
Wrecked in Table Bay—Gallant Behaviour of Battalion—
Duke of Wellington’s Remarks—The Expedition against
Boers—Service in Kaffirland—Self Ordered to Capetown—
Breaking out of Kaffir War—Troops Ordered to Frontier—
Sir P. Maitland—Self Detained in Capetown—Appeal to
Colonial Secretary—Ordered to Join Regiment—Malay
Regiment—Night Alarm—A Patrol under my Command—
Rescue of a Prisoner by Kaffirs.

EARLY in 1842, the regiment was raised to the
strength of one thousand three hundred and thirty-
eight men by the formation of what was called a
‘reserve battalion.” This was not a second battalion,
with an existence independent of the first battalion.
It had no lieutenant-colonel, no colours, no band.
The senior major of the regiment was in command as
the only field-officer, and the senior assistant-surgeon
in charge as the only medical officer. When both
battalions were together, they formed one regiment
under the lieutenant-colonel, and when separated the
reserve was still, to a certain extent, under the super-
vision of and liable to inspection by the lieutenant-
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colonel, whose place was always with the first
battalion.

Similar battalions were added to several other
regiments at the same time, the intention of the
authorities being to add to the strength of the Army
without allowing it to be apparent how the increase
was effected, and to do this economically, forgetting
efficiency, by making the principal staff-officers of
one battalion sufficient for the administrative duties
of a strength which would admit of being worked as
a whole, or of being divided into two battalions.

The arrangement was not found to act satisfac-
torily ; and, still further to test the system, lieutenant-
colonels and surgeons were appointed to all the
reserve battalions. But even then the system did not
answer ; there was a want of sympathy, of cordiality,
between two battalions so constituted—a feeling of
Jjealousy, I may say, existed on the part of the reserve
towards the first, and a little irritation on the part
of the officer commanding the former to find himself
at one moment in a sort of independent position, and
at the next under the control of the officer command-
ing the latter ; and further, a strength of one thousand
three hundred and thirty-eight men only admitted
of the formation of one strong regiment with a depét,
or of two weak battalions fed from a common depét.

Eventually, therefore, all reserve battalions were
absorbed into the ranks of the parent regiment,
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which I believe was appreciated by officers and men
of all the regiments to which reserve battalions had
been attached.

Almost immediately after the formation of the 91st
reserve battalion, which was effected by calling for
volunteers from other regiments (that is to say, by
spoiling other regiments, a system common in the
British Army), it—the new battalion—marched from
Naas to Dublin, and was conveyed thence by rail to
Kingstown, where it embarked on board the Abder-
crombie Robinson and sailed for the Cape, for the
purpose of relieving the first battalion, to be ordered
home. This was perhaps the first crude conception
of ¢linked battalions,” one to be at home and to feed
the other on foreign service. The strength of the
young battalion on embarkation was seventeen offi-
cers and four hundred and sixty rank and file, and
Lieutenant-Colonel Lindsay, who was proceeding to
join the first battalion, was in command. I bappened
to have been in Dublin at the time, and I perfectly
remember seeing the battalion march through the
city on its way to embark, and little thought, as it
marched past me, that within two years I should
myself be an officer of the 9lst.

The Abercrombie Robinson arrived in Table Bay on
the 25th of August, 1842, and there the battalion
received orders to proceed to the north-east frontier
to relieve the first battalion, ordered to Cape Town.
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‘Colonel Lindsay and a number of officers landed
immediately, leaving six officers on board with the
men, the senior of whom was Captain Bertie Gordon
(years afterwards colonel commanding the 91st Regi-
ment). But before arrangements could be made
either to land the troops or to send them on to
Algoa Bay in the same ship, a furious gale from the
north-west drove the Abercrombie Robinson on shore.
Before she became a total wreck, however, all on
board were successfully landed, and without a single
casualty.

Table Bay is open to the north-west, so that when
a gale blows from that quarter a tremendous sea
rolls into the bay, and is often destructive to the
shipping. It was in such a gale that the Abercrombie
Robinson parted from her anchors, and in such a sea
that she was driven ashore.

From sunset of the 27th, when the gale com-
menced, until three o’clock of the following morning,
the wind continued to increase in violence until it
eventually blew with the resistless force of a hurri-
cane. Both cables parted, one after the other, and
the ship, driven before the storm, struck heavily
against the ground at a distance of three miles from
the shore, where she lay rolling and straining, and
swept every moment by the tremendous seas that
broke against her broadside, the danger of the situa-
tion, too, increased by the horror of darkness and by
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a terrific thunderstorm which raged for hours. As
morning advanced and day began to dawn, the vio-
lence of wind and waves somewhat abated, but
though the sea still beat heavily against the stranded
ship, and broke with tremendous force on the shore,
a cutter was lowered to leeward with a picked crew,
who succeeded in reaching land with a hauling line,
by means of which surf-boats were brought along-
side, and in these all on board were safely landed.

Captain Gordon and the officers behaved with great
judgment, the women and children with remarkable
courage, and the young soldiers maintained the most
perfect discipline. The report of the shipwreck,
written by the senior officer (Captain Bertie Gordon),
was forwarded by the general commanding at the
Cape to Field-Marshal the Duke of Wellington, com-
mander-in-chief at the Horse Guards, who wrote a
memorandum thereon, of which thefollowingis a copy :

‘I have never read anything so satisfactory as this
report. It is highly creditable not only to Captain
Bertie Gordon and officers and traops concerned, but
to the service in which such an instance has occurred
of discretion and firmness in an officer in command,
and of confidence, good order, discipline, and obedi-
ence in all under his command, even to the women
and children.’

In consequence of this disaster, the battalion re-
mained in Capetown until February, 1843, Major
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Ducat assuming command of it, Colonel Lindsay
having proceeded to the frontier to take command
of the first battalion, which was ordered to be de-
tained in the command till further orders.

In December, 1842, a force consisting of eight
hundred men, four hundred of whom were furnished
by the first battalion 91st Regiment, was ordered to
the north-west frontier, as the emigrant farmers
there (Boers) had assumed a threatening attitude.
This force, under the command of Colonel M. C.
Johnstone of the 27th Regiment, arrived at Coles-
berg, near the Orange river, towards the end of the
month ; but, as no active operations appeared neces-
sary, the greater part of the force returned to
Grahamstown and Fort Beaufort, leaving three hun-
dred men of the 91st Regiment, under Major Camp-
bell, with Captains Yarborough and Savage, and
Lieutenants Bayly and Patterson, at Colesberg as a
corps of observation,

In June, 1843, nearly all the disposable troops on
the eastern frontier were ordered into Kaffirland on
a special service, viz., to drive the refractory chief
Tola out of the ceded territory, and recover from him
a number of cattle which had been stolen from colo-
nists by his tribe. Both the first and reserve batta-~
lions furnished detachments to this force, which was
divided into three small columns. That composed of
the detachments of the 91st Regiment under the
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command of Colonel Lindsay met with some oppo-
sition; but the expedition was successful, and the
troops returned within the colonial boundary, having
expelled the troublesome chief, and captured a large
number of cattle.

Early in 1845, fresh disturbances broke out on the
north-western frontier, where the Boers persisted in
attacking and plundering the Griquas, who at last
. claimed the protection of the British Government.
Accordingly a force consisting of part of the 7th
Dragoon Guards, a company of the Cape Corps, and
the detachment of the 91st Regiment already at
Colesberg, with a field battery Royal Artillery,
marched to the scene of disturbance in the vicinity
of the Orange river, and on the arrival of the troops,
and a demonstration by the cavalry, the Boers dis-
persed after making only a show of resistance.

I remained in Grahamstown, after returning from
Peddie, about two months, during which time the
only occurrence worth mentioning was the presenta-
tion of new colours to the 91st Regiment by his
honour Colonel Hare, C.B. At the end of the second
month, I was ordered to proceed to Capetown in
medical charge of invalids, with instructions to return
to my regiment on completion of the duty. Captain
George Napier of the Cape Corps (afterwards Sir
George, son of Sir George Napier, a former governor
of the Cape, and nephew of the great Sir Charles)

VOL. I. I
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was in command of the detachment. We had a
pleasant march to Algoa Bay, and a quick run by
coasting steamer to Capetown, where I handed over
my charge and received orders to return to the fron-
tier by the next steamer, which was to sail in a
week’s time. But, before the date of sailing, an
express arrived with the announcement of the long-
expected outbreak of the Gaika Kaffirs under San-
dilli, Macomo, Pato, and other minor chiefs; and Sir
P. Maitland with his staff, including Dr. Forrest, the
staff-surgeon at Capetown, and the governor’s medical
attendant, started immediately for the frontier. The
head-quarters of the 27th Regiment, which was at
Capetown awaiting embarkation for England, was
ordered thither also, while I was directed to remain
and take up Dr. Forrest’s duty until further orders.
This was a great disappointment to me, and though
I entreated the Principal Medical Officer, Dr. Roe
(who had succeeded Dr. Kinnis, mentioned in Chapter
IL.), to allow me to rejoin my regiment, that I might
not lose the opportunity of seeing active service, he
turned a deaf ear to my entreaty, and tried to smooth
me down by pointing out what a responsible duty
had devolved upon so young an officer as the charge
of Government House and the general staff. I did.
not see matters in that light, however, for the very
fact of my youth made the charge of Government
House and staff a matter of the most perfect indiffer-
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ence when compared with the prospect of seeing war.

Dr. Roe himself had seen a great deal of active
gervice, as he had been with the 23rd Royal Welsh
Fusiliers in the Peninsula, and been wounded at the
investment of Pampluna, and therefore had no sym-
pathy with what he considered my foolish desire to
be shot at for the magnificent remuneration of three-
pence three farthings an hour, and perhaps be killed in
an inglorious scrimmage.

I had to submit, and performed the duty for up-
wards of six weeks ; and though Lady Sarah Maitland
was kind enough to patronise me, and send for me
occasionally, and though I made the acquaintance of
the leading officials, Captain Montagu the Colonial
Secretary, Judge Menzies, the Attorney-General,
and of many of the civilians, who were all kind to
me, I was dissatisfied, and became anxious and
excited, or, as people said, irritable, when accounts
of stirring events and ‘news of battle,” even though
only of a skirmish, reached us from the front; so
at last, and in desperation, I adopted the bold
measure of appealing to Captain Montagu, in whom
all power was vested in the absence of the governor,
‘and asked him to use his influence and authority
to have me sent back to my regiment, and at the
same time begged him not to let Dr. Roe know that
I had applied to kim personally.

Independently of a natural desire on the part of

12
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all men connected with the Army to see war, officers
and men, especially young officers, dislike being
absent when their regiments are on active service.
They feel a certain degree of jealousy when they
hear and read, in private and in public, expressions
and remarks of admiration, sorrow, and sympathy
for gallant deeds performed, losses incurred, and suf-
ferings and privations endured, and they not there.
They feel a little sore when they hear of comrades
wounded, and distinguished in a well-fought battle,
in which the regiment behaved splendidly, and they
not there to share the danger and the glory, and
the reward of ¢honourable mention.’ And after a
time, when they do join their regiments, they have
a painful feeling of shyness as they meet their com-
rades, ¢all besmirched with rainy marching in the pain-
Sul field} but with the bronze of battle on their
faces, and with the confident bearing of men who
have withstood the shock of war, and hear them
speak of this battle, that engagement, the charge,
the assault, the long and weary march, and the night-
attack, but have to sit in the circle round the bivouac-
fire as silent listeners, because they were not there.

I do not doubt that some of those who may read
these lines have felt what I describe, or have seen
others wince and shrink a little when they heard
their comrades speak of gallant deeds performed in
which they had no share.
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I speak from personal experience, and it was just
this, or something akin to this, which I felt (‘though
only a—doctor’) while I was detained, most un-
willingly on my part, in Capetown at the commence-
ment of the Kaffir war of 1846-7.

Not many days after my interview with the Colonial
Secretary, Dr. Roe sent for me, and desired me to
be prepared to return to the frontier, to rejoin my
regiment, adding, at the same time,

‘You might have saved yourself the trouble of
applying to the Colonial Secretary, for I had already
arranged for your return. You go by next steamer,
and in charge of a newly-raised corps of Malays.’

Dr. Roe was very kind to me during my stay in
Capetown. There was always a place for me at
his table, and on my leaving he advanced me money,
and did all in his power to prepare me for the field.
I fully appreciated at the time, and still retain, a
grateful recollection of his kindness. He has been
dead many years now, but his nephew, and my friend,
Dr. 8. B. Roe, late Surgeon of 92nd Highlanders, still
represents the family in the service.

The Malay corps embarked with a certain degree
of enthusiasm. I cannotsay much as to their efficiency,
for, though they were armed, it was doubtful if they
knew how to handle, or at least to use, their arms,
as they had undergone only a few days’ preliminary
instruction. They were sturdy-looking fellows, how-
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ever, dressed rather picturesquely in dark blue, with
large, red cotton haundkerchiefs folded like turbans
round their heads, and their numbers, some two
hundred, would at least make a show of strength.

Captain Owen, R.E., was in command, assisted by
Lieutenant Disney Russel, R.A., and Ensign Man-
ners of the 91st Regiment, and the staff consisted
of my old friend Captain Raymond, Paymaster, 27th
Regiment, and of myself in medical charge. All
these friends have passed over to the great majority
years ago. Of the five T only am left, and many a
day of hardship and danger I have passed through
since then.

We arrived at Algoa Bay safely, disembarked at
once, and as soon as we could procure wagons (the
indispensable means of transport in those days) com-
menced our march for Grahamstown. The Malays
marched along merrily, seemed to acquire daily a
more martial bearing and appearance, but it was
evident that they preferred moving as a compact
body to being distributed along the line of wagons.
Probably they felt a little more confidence when
¢ shoulder to shoulder, a greater power to resist attack
than when extended over the distance occupied by
wagons. In fact, each man felt a certain comfort
and encouragement in the close proximity of his
fellows. Had they been regularly trained to dis-
cipline and drill, no doubt they would have made
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good soldiers, for the Malay is a fierce race; but,
as they were—picked up in the streets of €Capetown,
and hurried off after a few days’ instruction—they
would have been an incumbrance, a source of weak-
ness rather than strength if attached to regular troops
in the field.

On the third night of our march (about mid-night)
we were startled out of sleep by the report of a-
musket, followed by a shout and a rush, and a roll
of musketry., Turning out of our blankets at once,
we found our Malays outside the square of wagons
in a great state of excitement, if not alarm, shouting
to each other, and firing as fast as they could load.
Owen, followed by all of us, rushed in amongst them,
with some difficulty induced them to cease firing
and to be silent, and then through an interpreter (for
none of us could speak either Malay or Dutch) ascer-
tained as follows: One of the sentries had seen
something stealthily approaching him through the
bush by which the encampment was surrounded,
and, in his fear, supposed—indeed said—it was a
Kaffir, and at once fired his musket at the object.
At the noise of the musket and of his shout of alarm,
not only the guard but the whole corps turned out,
and crowding together outside the wagon enclosure,
where we found them, opened a regular fusilade in
the direction indicated by the sentry, firing into the
bush or into the air, I do not know which, and I |
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hardly think they, in their alarm, knew themselves.

1t was with a little difficulty, as I have said, that
we got them to cease firing, pressed them back within
the enclosure, and induced them to be silent. Hav-
ing accomplished this, Owen ordered out two patrols
to sweep the bush all round our encampment, one of
twenty men to search the ground in front and on the
right flank, and the other, of similar strength, to take
the rear and left flank of the camp. The first was
placed under the command of Captain Raymond, a
man between sixty and seventy years of age, and
very short-sighted, and the second under my com-
mand, 4 man who did not quite understand what was
required of a patrol.

However, off we went, Raymond and I at the head
of our respective parties, performed the duty allotted
to each, and returned safely to report that we had not
met nor 